
Agenda 

CITY OF MILLERSBURG 

City Council Regular Meeting
Electronic Meeting 

January 11, 2022 @ 6:30 PM 

This meeting is being recorded for public review on the City of Millersburg website. 

Remote Access for the meeting is available. Instructions for joining the meeting can be 

found at https://www.cityofmillersburg.org/citycouncil/page/city-council-regular-meeting If 

you do not have access to a phone or computer, or need additional support, please 

contact City Hall prior to 5:00 p.m. on Monday, January 10.  

Meeting link to join via computer: 

https://aspenuc.accessionmeeting.com/j/11597014359 

 Phone number to join meeting:  503-212-9900 

Meeting ID:  115 9701 4359 

CALL TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL 

CHANGES AND ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 

CONSENT AGENDA 

1) Approval of December 14, 2021 City Council Meeting Minutes

2) Acceptance of City Accounts Payable Report

Action:_________________________________________________

GUEST PRESENTATIONS 

3) Linn County Sheriff's Monthly Report

4) Albany Fire Department Quarterly Report

PUBLIC COMMENT 

The public has the opportunity to address the Council during "Public Comment.” Those 

attending virtually may raise their hand electronically or request to speak upon 

unmuting.  The public may also send written comments by email to 

citvclerk@cityofmillersburg.org. Please limit comments to one page and include your name 

and address. Emails received before 5:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting will be included 

and read into the record for comments by the Council. 

COUNCIL MEMBER AND STAFF COMMENTS 

CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 

5) Fire Station Project Report

11 of 147

https://www.cityofmillersburg.org/citycouncil/page/city-council-regular-meeting-37
https://aspenuc.accessionmeeting.com/j/11597014359
mailto:citvclerk@cityofmillersburg.org


6) Project Updates 

CITY ATTORNEY'S REPORT 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

NEW BUSINESS 

7) Health Insurance Plan Rates - Information Only 

8) Water and Sewer Rate Increases - Previously Adopted - Information Only 

9) Housing Needs Analysis and Buildable Lands Inventory - Information Only 

CLOSING PUBLIC COMMENT 

CLOSING COUNCIL COMMENT 

ADJOURNMENT 

Note:  Council may adjourn to executive session in accordance with ORS 192.660. 

 

Upcoming Meetings & Events: 

 

Visit the City’s online calendar: https://www.cityofmillersburg.org/calendar  

 

 

Rules of Conduct for Public Hearings 

1. No person shall be disorderly, abusive, or disruptive of the orderly conduct of the hearing. 
 

2. Persons shall not testify without first receiving recognition from the presiding officer and stating their full name 

and residence address.  
 

3. No person shall present irrelevant, immaterial, or repetitious testimony or evidence. 
 

4. There shall be no audience demonstrations such as applause, cheering, display of signs, or other conduct 

disruptive of the hearing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22 of 147

https://www.cityofmillersburg.org/calendar


 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
via Virtual Meeting 

December 14, 2021 @ 6:30 p.m. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER Meeting called to order by Mayor Lepin at 6:30 p.m. 

 

B. ROLL CALL 

Councilors Present: Mayor Jim Lepin, Councilors Scott Cowan, Scott McPhee, John 

Sullivan 

Councilors Absent: Dave Harms 

Staff Present: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager; Forrest Reid, City Attorney; Kimberly 

Wollenburg, City Recorder; Matt Straite, Community Development 

Director 

Presenters: Sergeant Steven Frambes, Linn County Sheriff’s Office 

 Paiten Tensen, Engineering Intern 
 

C. CHANGES AND ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 

1) Mayor Lepin shared that there is an addition to the agenda under New Business to 

reappoint two members to the Planning Commission. 

 

D. CONSENT AGENDA 

1) Approval of November 9, 2021, City Council Meeting Minutes 

2) Acceptance of City Accounts Payable Report 

Action: Motion to Approve Consent Agenda as Presented made by Councilor 

John Sullivan; seconded by Councilor Scott Cowan. 

Mayor Jim Lepin:  Aye 

Councilor Scott Cowan: Aye 

Councilor Dave Harms: Absent 

Councilor Scott McPhee: Aye 

Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 

Motion PASSED: 4/0 

 

E. GUEST PRESENTATIONS 

1) Linn County Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report 

Sergeant Steven Frambes reviewed the November 2021 monthly report. 

 

2) Engineering Intern Presentation 

Engineering Intern Paiten Tensen gave a presentation regarding his experiences 

working as an intern for the City of Millersburg. He shared with the Council the 

projects he worked on and how he benefited from working for the City. 

 

F. PUBLIC COMMENT 

1) Kathryn Strathern, Katelyn Avenue, spoke about the alternatives to weekly 

Republic Service trash pickup. She noted there are many who do not need 

weekly and asked for consideration to have Republic Services offer a bi-weekly 

service for those residents who do not need weekly pickup which would also help 

4

Item 1)

3 of 147



offset the increased charges. Mayor Lepin noted that this would something 

possible to discuss with Republic Services. 

 

Mayor Lepin opened the public hearing at 6:51 p.m.  

 

G. PUBLIC HEARING 

1) Development Code Update – Ordinance 192-21 

Community Development Director Straite presented information and reviewed the 

proposed revisions and updates to the Development Code.  

After Community Development Director Straite finished his presentation, Mayor 

Lepin asked for public comment. No public commented. 

Councilor Cowan asked about the environmental performance standards added 

that could limit placement of certain uses in the General Industrial zone if the site is 

located within 300 feet of residentially zoned land. City Manager Kreitman 

explained we did not have environmental performance standards in our code 

and had intended for the language which was included under conditional use 

requirements to address facilities that may have hazardous substances of 

concern, the 300’ was added to this section to clarify which parcels would be 

subject to the conditional use process.  Additionally, section 5.04.060 would allow 

us to place additional conditions on any development in which protections from 

any potential hazard is identified. 

Action: Motion for the City Council to Approve Application No. DC 21-01 and 

Adopt Ordinance No 192-21 made by Councilor Scott Cowan; seconded by 

Councilor Scott McPhee. 

Mayor Jim Lepin:  Aye 

Councilor Scott Cowan: Aye 

Councilor Dave Harms: Absent 

Councilor Scott McPhee: Aye 

Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 

Motion PASSED: 4/0 

 

H. COUNCIL MEMBER AND STAFF COMMENTS 

1) Councilor Scott McPhee asked if there is any interest from Council to proceed on 

the issue of the loss of power. He said it seems to him that the City is losing power a 

lot more often now then has been in the past. He said that he doesn’t see a short-

term, quick solution to fix but with the substation is coming online, to evaluate 

options to mitigate the frequent issues. 

City Manger Kreitman shared what he knew from what Pacific Power has 

provided. He shared that Millersburg has the most redundancy in their system and 

that repair time for outages is much shorter than anywhere else in Pacific Power’s 

service area. He noted there would be some additional capabilities from the 

substation and shared what those are, particularly that most of residential will be 

switched to the new substation. He will confirm that with Pacific Power. Councilor 

Scott Cowan concurred with Councilor Scott McPhee that it appears there have 

been more power outages over the last year. He noted that knowing the City has 

the most redundancy is good to know.  

5

Item 1)

4 of 147



2) Councilor Scott Cowan updated the Council regarding the upcoming events 

presented by the Events Planning Committee. He shared information regarding 

the parade on December 17. 

 

3) Councilor Scott Cowan spoke about wanting to know more about the intermodal 

and what’s going on there. He shared that he appreciated the photos and the 

intermodal website but had some thoughts about the concerns residents have 

regarding traffic and noise and would like to have a discussion with stakeholders 

at a future work session if possible. Mayor Lepin said his thought is that there would 

be discussion regarding the increased traffic from the intermodal and the 

increased traffic accidents and issues. City Manager Kreitman shared the website 

for the intermodal facility: https://www.linneconomicdevelopmentgroup.com/  

 

I. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

1) Fire Station Project Report 

City Manager Kreitman noted that things for the fire station project are really 

ramping up. Assistant City Manager/City Engineer Booth reviewed a long list of 

tasks accomplished within the last two weeks. In addition, she reviewed the 

project budget and any current change orders. 

 

2) Project Updates 

Assistant City Manager/City Engineer Booth provided an update regarding various 

maintenance and construction activities in progress throughout the City. City 

Manager Kreitman provided an update regarding the status of the Housing Needs 

Analysis/Buildable Lands Inventory with the plan to bring the information to the 

Council in a January work session. 

 

3) Establish Workgroup for Republic Services Review 

City Manager Kreitman provided a brief background of the reason for the 

formation of a workgroup, and the Council then discussed that no more than two 

Councilors can participate. Councilor John Sullivan will participate as well as 

Councilor Scott McPhee.  

 

J. CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 

None 

 

K. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

None 

 

L. NEW BUSINESS 

1) Municipal Code Sign Update – Repealing and Replacing MC Chapter 5.10 – 

Ordinance 193-21 

Community Development Director Straite reviewed the staff report with the 

Council. Councilor Scott Cowan asked about enforcement and requested that 

staff communicate sign updates before assessing fines. City Manager Kreitman 

noted the major reason for the change is to allow the staff more teeth to enforce 

the removal of signs and assessing fines as needed. 

 

Resident Ron Post asked about staff sending a communication out with the water 

bills to let the community know that this sign update exists. City Manager Kreitman 

6

Item 1)

5 of 147

https://www.linneconomicdevelopmentgroup.com/


believes that signs in the rights-of-way have been addressed but more 

communication can be done. 

Action: Motion to Adopt Ordinance 193-21 Repealing and Replacing MC Chapter 

6.10, Municipal Code Sign Update, made by Councilor John Sullivan; seconded 

by Councilor Scott McPhee. 

Mayor Jim Lepin:  Aye 

Councilor Scott Cowan: Aye 

Councilor Dave Harms: Absent 

Councilor Scott McPhee: Aye 

Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 

Motions PASSED: 4/0 

 

2) Planning Commission Appointments 

City Manager Kreitman reviewed the two requests for reappointments to the 

Planning Commission. 

Action: Motion to Reappoint Anne Peltier and Ryan Penning to the Planning 

Commission made by Councilor John Sullivan; seconded by Councilor Scott 

McPhee. 

Mayor Jim Lepin:  Aye 

Councilor Scott Cowan: Aye 

Councilor Dave Harms: Absent 

Councilor Scott McPhee: Aye 

Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 

Motions PASSED: 4/0 

 

M. CLOSING PUBLIC COMMENT 

None 

 

N. CLOSING COUNCIL COMMENT 

1) Mayor Lepin reminded the Council of two events on Saturday: Old Salem Road 

Litter Pickup at 9:30 a.m. and the parade at 6:00 p.m. 

2) City Manager Kreitman shared that the images on the presentation, specifically 

the holiday images, were taken and provided by Community Development 

Director Straite. City Recorder Kim Wollenburg also shared that holiday images 

were up on the City’s website and other City social media pages. 

 

O. ADJOURNMENT Mayor Lepin adjourned the regular meeting at 8:23 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted:     Reviewed by: 

 

 

 

Kimberly Wollenburg     Kevin Kreitman 

City Recorder      City Manager 

7

Item 1)

6 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     1

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

Report Criteria:

Report type:  Invoice detail

Check.Type = {<>} "Adjustment"

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18709

11/21 11/05/2021 18709 7 4S Sign LLC 48082 02-60-218 303.55

Total 18709: 303.55

18710

11/21 11/05/2021 18710 607 Business Connections, Inc. 072210212021 01-40-215 45.00

Total 18710: 45.00

18711

11/21 11/05/2021 18711 630 Carolyn Decker 4170 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18711: 40.00

18712

11/21 11/05/2021 18712 1014 Coty Clack 1027 01-45-210 80.00

Total 18712: 80.00

18713

11/21 11/05/2021 18713 327 De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc. 74167215 01-40-223 374.55

Total 18713: 374.55

18714

11/21 11/05/2021 18714 251 Dustin Patton 11012021 01-40-215 35.00

Total 18714: 35.00

18715

11/21 11/05/2021 18715 335 EC Electrical Construction Co 215865 01-45-211 296.49

Total 18715: 296.49

18716

11/21 11/05/2021 18716 16 Forrest Reid 1021 01-40-230 7,300.00

Total 18716: 7,300.00

18717

11/21 11/05/2021 18717 908 Hughes Fire Equipment Inc. 569957 02-60-212 720.37

Total 18717: 720.37

18718

11/21 11/05/2021 18718 355 John Allen 10 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18718: 40.00

18719

11/21 11/05/2021 18719 12 Linn County Sheriff's Office 1102 01-50-211 34,659.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

8

Item 2)

7 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     2

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

Total 18719: 34,659.00

18720

11/21 11/05/2021 18720 869 Municode 00365514 01-40-223 4,044.36

Total 18720: 4,044.36

18721

11/21 11/05/2021 18721 1016 Oregon Corrections Enterprises 0149801-IN 01-45-211 4,192.00

Total 18721: 4,192.00

18722

11/21 11/05/2021 18722 842 Pacific Northwest Development Group 1460 01-40-229 3,500.00

Total 18722: 3,500.00

18723

11/21 11/05/2021 18723 1015 Pacific Power-Albany 102321 01-50-725 21,135.00

Total 18723: 21,135.00

18724

11/21 11/05/2021 18724 447 R.L Reimers Company 221539 04-80-715 42,678.99

Total 18724: 42,678.99

18725

11/21 11/05/2021 18725 902 Soderstrom Architects Ltd 8964 01-50-721 986.20

Total 18725: 986.20

18726

11/21 11/05/2021 18726 958 Wildish Paving Co. 1021 05-95-611 284,573.45

Total 18726: 284,573.45

18727

11/21 11/05/2021 18727 786 Witherspoon Industries LLC INV4772 01-40-223 600.00

Total 18727: 600.00

18728

11/21 11/15/2021 18728 539 Barrett Business Services Inc. 3194563 01-45-211 127.40

11/21 11/15/2021 18728 539 Barrett Business Services Inc. 3195376 01-45-211 36.40

Total 18728: 163.80

18729

11/21 11/15/2021 18729 1017 Best Pots 449327 01-40-213 200.00

Total 18729: 200.00

18730

11/21 11/15/2021 18730 870 CECO, INC. CP00342224 01-45-211 211.98

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

9

Item 2)

8 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     3

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

Total 18730: 211.98

18731

11/21 11/15/2021 18731 96 Cynthia Shaw 119 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18731: 40.00

18732

11/21 11/15/2021 18732 916 ECONorthwest 24655 01-40-235 868.75

Total 18732: 868.75

18733

11/21 11/15/2021 18733 1010 Eric Metz 2 01-40-235 6,781.76

Total 18733: 6,781.76

18734

11/21 11/15/2021 18734 526 FEI Testing & Inspection Inc 32213 01-50-725 1,311.40

Total 18734: 1,311.40

18735

11/21 11/15/2021 18735 805 Kelsi jo Amouak 115 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18735: 40.00

18736

11/21 11/15/2021 18736 19 Linn County Planning and Building 10 01-52-211 24,791.28

Total 18736: 24,791.28

18737

11/21 11/15/2021 18737 697 Linn County Print & Supplies 31102102 01-40-221 700.00

Total 18737: 700.00

18738

11/21 11/15/2021 18738 869 Municode 00365513 01-40-223 1,267.30

11/21 11/15/2021 18738 869 Municode 00366299 01-40-223 395.00

11/21 11/15/2021 18738 869 Municode 00366300 01-40-223 395.00

Total 18738: 2,057.30

18739

11/21 11/15/2021 18739 968 Nicholas Borninski 114 01-45-210 46.40

Total 18739: 46.40

18740

11/21 11/15/2021 18740 454 Nicole Neuschwander 119 01-45-210 200.00

Total 18740: 200.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

10

Item 2)

9 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     4

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18741

11/21 11/15/2021 18741 23 Pacific Power 11 04-80-217 5,206.59

Total 18741: 5,206.59

18742

11/21 11/15/2021 18742 912 Saalfeld Griggs PC 442330 01-40-230 244.00

Total 18742: 244.00

18743

11/21 11/15/2021 18743 207 Smith Glass Service, Inc. 1054708 01-40-213 140.00

Total 18743: 140.00

18744

11/21 11/15/2021 18744 700 US Bank 0921-1021 01-40-221 4,775.14

Total 18744: 4,775.14

18745

11/21 11/15/2021 18745 652 Wheat LLC 6497 02-60-214 2,199.17

Total 18745: 2,199.17

18746

11/21 11/18/2021 18746 48 Cintas Corporation-172 4097082637 01-40-221 93.27

Total 18746: 93.27

18747

11/21 11/18/2021 18747 318 Government Ethics Commission AIE14738 01-40-212 658.59

Total 18747: 658.59

18748

11/21 11/18/2021 18748 765 Handy Hands Landscape C&M LLC 10 01-40-223 1,536.00

11/21 11/18/2021 18748 765 Handy Hands Landscape C&M LLC 10302021 04-80-715 12,700.00

Total 18748: 14,236.00

18749

11/21 11/18/2021 18749 1018 Lindsay Burbey 1116 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18749: 40.00

18750

11/21 11/18/2021 18750 836 LS Networks INV66682 01-40-215 484.20

Total 18750: 484.20

18751

11/21 11/18/2021 18751 41 Providence Health Plan 111021 01-40-132 4,703.90

Total 18751: 4,703.90

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

11

Item 2)

10 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     5

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18752

11/21 11/18/2021 18752 56 Republic Services #450
045000344546

01-50-212 101.96

Total 18752: 101.96

18753

11/21 11/18/2021 18753 1011 Sierra Springs
218041971113

01-40-221 44.99

Total 18753: 44.99

18754

11/21 11/18/2021 18754 233 Stutzman Services 39732134 01-40-213 4,796.00

Total 18754: 4,796.00

18755

11/21 11/18/2021 18755 719 Zions Bank 11022021 05-90-610 405,055.00

Total 18755: 405,055.00

18757

11/21 11/29/2021 18757 25 ADS. LLC 128141021 04-80-213 772.00

Total 18757: 772.00

18758

11/21 11/29/2021 18758 43 Aflac 059885 01-40-130 44.52

Total 18758: 44.52

18759

11/21 11/29/2021 18759 539 Barrett Business Services Inc. 3195910 01-45-211 36.40

Total 18759: 36.40

18760

11/21 11/29/2021 18760 344 Carol Bispham Hashagen 11192021 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18760: 40.00

18761

11/21 11/29/2021 18761 870 CECO, INC. CP00346216 01-45-211 189.94

Total 18761: 189.94

18762

11/21 11/29/2021 18762 466 CH2MHill Engineers Inc D339531305 05-90-218 3,990.91

Total 18762: 3,990.91

18763

11/21 11/29/2021 18763 50 City of Albany 3775 01-50-210 730,337.00

Total 18763: 730,337.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

12

Item 2)

11 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     6

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18764

11/21 11/29/2021 18764 762 Code Publishing Co 71464 01-40-223 480.00

Total 18764: 480.00

18765

11/21 11/29/2021 18765 659 David Evans & Associates, Inc. 1123 05-95-611 8,966.69

Total 18765: 8,966.69

18766

11/21 11/29/2021 18766 327 De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc. 74493690 01-40-223 138.78

Total 18766: 138.78

18767

11/21 11/29/2021 18767 966 Jacob's Engineering Group Inc. D346340012 05-90-214 684.83

11/21 11/29/2021 18767 966 Jacob's Engineering Group Inc. D346340013 05-90-214 684.83

Total 18767: 1,369.66

18768

11/21 11/29/2021 18768 10 John Deere Financial 1 01-45-211 185.36

Total 18768: 185.36

18769

11/21 11/29/2021 18769 1019 Logan Denney 18 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18769: 40.00

18770

11/21 11/29/2021 18770 483 MetLife - Group Benefits 01 01-40-135 827.74

Total 18770: 827.74

18771

11/21 11/29/2021 18771 53 Oregon Cascades West COG QTR1FY22 01-40-222 1,726.97

Total 18771: 1,726.97

18772

11/21 11/29/2021 18772 576 Shelley Wright 11 01-45-210 70.40

Total 18772: 70.40

18773

11/21 11/29/2021 18773 1020 SHI International Corp B14295381 01-40-222 3,756.08

Total 18773: 3,756.08

18775

12/21 12/06/2021 18775 539 Barrett Business Services Inc. 3196622 01-45-211 81.90

Total 18775: 81.90

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

13

Item 2)

12 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     7

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18776

12/21 12/06/2021 18776 607 Business Connections, Inc. 072211222021 01-40-215 45.00

Total 18776: 45.00

18777

12/21 12/06/2021 18777 852 Creekside Valley Farms 12 01-40-239 3,400.00

Total 18777: 3,400.00

18778

12/21 12/06/2021 18778 327 De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc. 74510127 01-40-223 374.55

Total 18778: 374.55

18779

12/21 12/06/2021 18779 335 EC Electrical Construction Co 217129 02-60-215 1,434.60

Total 18779: 1,434.60

18780

12/21 12/06/2021 18780 637 Erin Elizabeth Girt 40 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18780: 40.00

18781

12/21 12/06/2021 18781 972 Greater Albany Public Schools District 8 1 01-52-210 18,433.80

Total 18781: 18,433.80

18782

12/21 12/06/2021 18782 1021 Kevin Tinner 401 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18782: 40.00

18783

12/21 12/06/2021 18783 923 MECOP Inc. C2022--021 01-40-125 3,000.00

Total 18783: 3,000.00

18784

12/21 12/06/2021 18784 27 Metereaders LLC. 10041 05-90-213 1,095.35

Total 18784: 1,095.35

18785

12/21 12/06/2021 18785 1022 OHA Cashier 1314 05-90-212 200.00

Total 18785: 200.00

18786

12/21 12/06/2021 18786 842 Pacific Northwest Development Group 1507 01-40-229 3,500.00

Total 18786: 3,500.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

14

Item 2)

13 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     8

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18787

12/21 12/06/2021 18787 617 Pacific Office Automation 787678 01-40-223 17.42

Total 18787: 17.42

18788

12/21 12/06/2021 18788 328 Valley Merchant Police, Inc 2066 01-45-211 307.50

Total 18788: 307.50

18789

12/21 12/06/2021 18789 786 Witherspoon Industries LLC INV4828 01-40-223 600.00

Total 18789: 600.00

18790

12/21 12/08/2021 18790 222 Albany Area Chamber of Commerce 84741 01-40-227 .00
V

Total 18790: .00

18791

12/21 12/08/2021 18791 1023 Amanda Katzenstein 123 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18791: 40.00

18792

12/21 12/08/2021 18792 1026 Applegate Door Co. 58975 01-45-211 2,117.00

Total 18792: 2,117.00

18793

12/21 12/08/2021 18793 539 Barrett Business Services Inc. 3196885 01-45-211 18.20

Total 18793: 18.20

18794

12/21 12/08/2021 18794 1025 Brenda Chapin 6423 01-45-210 168.00

Total 18794: 168.00

18795

12/21 12/08/2021 18795 870 CECO, INC. CP00348080 01-45-211 87.98

Total 18795: 87.98

18796

12/21 12/08/2021 18796 76 Coleen Haxby 111 01-45-210 79.20

Total 18796: 79.20

18797

12/21 12/08/2021 18797 916 ECONorthwest 24786 01-40-235 962.50

Total 18797: 962.50

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

15

Item 2)

14 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     9

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18798

12/21 12/08/2021 18798 526 FEI Testing & Inspection Inc 32341 01-50-725 293.30

Total 18798: 293.30

18799

12/21 12/08/2021 18799 87 Katrina Burch 1203 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18799: 40.00

18800

12/21 12/08/2021 18800 1024 Larry Chapman 1202 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18800: 40.00

18801

12/21 12/08/2021 18801 205 Linn County Tax Collector 2022 01-40-238 6,860.33

Total 18801: 6,860.33

18802

12/21 12/08/2021 18802 842 Pacific Northwest Development Group 1523 01-40-229 225.00

Total 18802: 225.00

18803

12/21 12/08/2021 18803 617 Pacific Office Automation 796890 01-40-223 129.16

Total 18803: 129.16

18804

12/21 12/08/2021 18804 23 Pacific Power 121621 04-80-217 6,090.01

Total 18804: 6,090.01

18805

12/21 12/08/2021 18805 1027 Ram Steelco Inc. 746956 02-60-215 211.31

12/21 12/08/2021 18805 1027 Ram Steelco Inc. 747345 02-60-212 7.32

Total 18805: 218.63

18806

12/21 12/08/2021 18806 652 Wheat LLC 6539 02-60-214 2,199.17

Total 18806: 2,199.17

18807

12/21 12/13/2021 18807 16 Forrest Reid
NOVEMBER2

01-40-230 9,475.00

Total 18807: 9,475.00

18809

12/21 12/16/2021 18809 222 Albany Area Chamber of Commerce 84741A 01-40-227 681.00

Total 18809: 681.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

16

Item 2)

15 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     10

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18810

12/21 12/16/2021 18810 1028 Dennis Lytle 10 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18810: 40.00

18811

12/21 12/16/2021 18811 1010 Eric Metz 3 01-40-235 924.64

Total 18811: 924.64

18812

12/21 12/16/2021 18812 19 Linn County Planning and Building 14 01-52-211 12,260.87

Total 18812: 12,260.87

18813

12/21 12/16/2021 18813 205 Linn County Tax Collector 932766 01-40-238 76.11

Total 18813: 76.11

18814

12/21 12/16/2021 18814 848 Oregon Festivals & Events Association 2616 01-56-210 125.00

Total 18814: 125.00

18815

12/21 12/16/2021 18815 793 Professional Security Alarm 2884638 01-40-223 123.00

Total 18815: 123.00

18816

12/21 12/16/2021 18816 38 Robyn Vogler 127 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18816: 40.00

18817

12/21 12/16/2021 18817 990 Saif Corporation 1000559424 01-40-133 1,130.30

Total 18817: 1,130.30

18818

12/21 12/16/2021 18818 1011 Sierra Springs
218041971222

01-40-221 27.75

Total 18818: 27.75

18819

12/21 12/16/2021 18819 700 US Bank 1121-1221 01-40-221 6,243.79

Total 18819: 6,243.79

18820

12/21 12/20/2021 18820 1030 Brandi Hollstein 184001122021 01-40-234 177.70

Total 18820: 177.70

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

17

Item 2)

16 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     11

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18821

12/21 12/21/2021 18821 539 Barrett Business Services Inc. 3198160 01-45-211 36.40

Total 18821: 36.40

18822

12/21 12/21/2021 18822 870 CECO, INC. CP00351458 01-45-211 174.63

Total 18822: 174.63

18823

12/21 12/21/2021 18823 48 Cintas Corporation-172 4099873934 01-40-221 110.61

12/21 12/21/2021 18823 48 Cintas Corporation-172 4105260099 01-40-221 127.45

Total 18823: 238.06

18824

12/21 12/21/2021 18824 733 Cynthia Sue Burgey-Mason 121021 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18824: 40.00

18825

12/21 12/21/2021 18825 659 David Evans & Associates, Inc. 15 05-95-611 8,878.05

Total 18825: 8,878.05

18826

12/21 12/21/2021 18826 765 Handy Hands Landscape C&M LLC 112021 01-40-223 1,536.00

Total 18826: 1,536.00

18827

12/21 12/21/2021 18827 1029 Kelly White 12112021 01-40-231 40.00

Total 18827: 40.00

18828

12/21 12/21/2021 18828 836 LS Networks INV67843 01-40-215 484.20

Total 18828: 484.20

18829

12/21 12/21/2021 18829 41 Providence Health Plan 8186 01-40-132 8,186.00

Total 18829: 8,186.00

18830

12/21 12/21/2021 18830 447 R.L Reimers Company 0480715 04-80-715 3,743.77

Total 18830: 3,743.77

18831

12/21 12/21/2021 18831 958 Wildish Paving Co. 1215 05-95-611 422,085.00

Total 18831: 422,085.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

18

Item 2)

17 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     12

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18833

12/21 12/30/2021 18833 781
Adamosky Technical Solutions Corporati

0120102021 01-50-725 1,315.99

Total 18833: 1,315.99

18834

12/21 12/30/2021 18834 43 Aflac 447859 01-40-130 73.32

Total 18834: 73.32

18835

12/21 12/30/2021 18835 539 Barrett Business Services Inc. 3198883 01-45-211 36.40

Total 18835: 36.40

18836

12/21 12/30/2021 18836 1032 Buell Recreation 210262 01-45-211 52.28

Total 18836: 52.28

18837

12/21 12/30/2021 18837 466 CH2MHill Engineers Inc D339531306 05-90-218 1,127.40

Total 18837: 1,127.40

18838

12/21 12/30/2021 18838 327 De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc. 74833642 01-40-223 374.55

Total 18838: 374.55

18839

12/21 12/30/2021 18839 251 Dustin Patton 01012022 01-40-215 70.00

Total 18839: 70.00

18840

12/21 12/30/2021 18840 966 Jacob's Engineering Group Inc. D346340014 05-90-214 684.82

Total 18840: 684.82

18841

12/21 12/30/2021 18841 569 Janelle Booth 01012022 01-40-215 105.00

Total 18841: 105.00

18842

12/21 12/30/2021 18842 1031 Jennifer Tress 1810 05-31-100 235.24

Total 18842: 235.24

18843

12/21 12/30/2021 18843 10 John Deere Financial 3209068 01-45-211 52.01

Total 18843: 52.01

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

19

Item 2)

18 of 147



City of Millersburg Check Register - Council Report Page:     13

Live 2.05.2021  Hosted Check Issue Dates: 11/5/2021 - 1/6/2022 Jan 06, 2022  03:57PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number GL Account Amount

18844

12/21 12/30/2021 18844 494 Kevin Kreitman 01012022 01-40-215 105.00

Total 18844: 105.00

18845

12/21 12/30/2021 18845 561 Kimberly Wollenburg 01012022 01-40-215 105.00

Total 18845: 105.00

18846

12/21 12/30/2021 18846 963 Matt Straite 01012022 01-40-215 105.00

Total 18846: 105.00

18847

12/21 12/30/2021 18847 483 MetLife - Group Benefits 12302021 01-40-135 827.74

Total 18847: 827.74

18848

12/21 12/30/2021 18848 979 Randy Mueller 01012022 01-40-215 105.00

Total 18848: 105.00

18849

12/21 12/30/2021 18849 681 Xtreme Grafx LLC 26219 01-56-210 506.00

Total 18849: 506.00

Grand Totals: 2,173,554.51

Report Criteria:

Report type:  Invoice detail

Check.Type = {<>} "Adjustment"

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

20

Item 2)

19 of 147



 

LINN COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE 
 

Michelle Duncan, Sheriff 
1115 S.E. Jackson Street, Albany, OR 97322 

Albany, OR. 97322 
Phone: 541-967-3950 

www.linnsheriff.org 
 

 

 

 

2021 
 

MONTHLY REPORT TO THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG 

FROM THE LINN COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

 

 

 

FOR THE MONTH OF:     December 

  

TRAFFIC CITATIONS: ---------------------------------------------      12              

TRAFFIC WARNINGS: ---------------------------------------------       8 

TRAFFIC CRASHES: ------------------------------------------------       2 

ADULTS CITED/VIOLATIONS: ----------------------------------       0 

ADULTS ARRESTED : ---------------------------------------------        1 

JUVENILES CITED/VIOLATIONS: -----------------------------       0 

JUVENILES ARRESTED: ------------------------------------------       0 

COMPLAINTS/INCIDENTS INVESTIGATED:--------------- 

 

 

   159 

   

TOTAL HOURS SPENT: MILLERSBURG                                  160.5 

     
 

CONTRACT HOURS= 153 HOURS 

 

      
Michelle Duncan, 

         Sheriff, Linn County 

 

         By: Sergeant Steven Frambes 

21

Item 3)

20 of 147



 
CITY OF MILLERSBURG  

QUARTERLY REPORT 
JANUARY 11, 2022  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Millersburg  
Total Responses 

Month 
Fiscal Year  

20 
Fiscal Year  

21 
Fiscal Year  

22 

July 18 17 35 

August 26 26 34 

September 15 28 27 

October 30 29 26 

November 14 21 20 

December 23 30 24 

January 24 29  

February 28 26  

March 28 21  

April 18 28  

May 16 36  

June 17 23  

Total 257 314 166 (↑10%) 

Type of Call Count 
SICK PERSON 19 

FIRE ALARM ACTIVATION 19 

BREATHING PROBLEMS 19 

FALL 18 

UNCONSCIOUS FAINTING 10 

MVC INJURY 10 

LIFT ASSIST 9 

CHEST PAIN 8 

SMOKE INVESTIGATION 5 

UNKNOWN MEDICAL PROBLEM 5 

STROKE  4 

SEIZURE 4 

WIRE DOWN 3 

TRAUMA INJURY 3 

STRUCTURE FIRE 3 

ODOR INVESTIGATION 2 

HAZMAT INCIDENT 2 

CARDIAC OR RESPIRATORY ARREST 2 

OD INGESTION POISONING 2 

SMALL MISC FIRE 2 

HEART PROBLEMS AICD 2 

HEMORRHAGE BLEED 2 

AIRCRAFT INCIDENT 1 

CAR FIRE 1 

TREE FIRE 1 

PUBLIC ASSISTANCE 1 

ABDOMINAL PAIN OR PROBLEMS 1 

ALLERGY, HIVES, REACTION, STING 1 

MUTUAL AID TO SCENE 1 

HEADACHE 1 

FIRE AGENCY ASSIST 1 

ASSAULT, RAPE, VIOLENT TRAUMA 1 

FIRE MOVEUP ONLY 1 

DIABETIC PROBLEM 1 

LARGE NATURAL COVER FIRE 1 

Grand Total 166 

Millersburg Response Times 

Average 911 Call Received to Arrival Time 

 FY 20  FY 21  
FY 22 

(Average) 

All Incidents 7:41 7:34 7:35 

50

Item 4)

48 of 147



1

7

4

2

3

2

4

7

9

1
1

8 8

1
6

1
1

9

1
0

7

3

1
1

6

7

8

9

3

0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0 8 0 9 1 0 1 1 1 2 1 3 1 4 1 5 1 6 1 7 1 8 1 9 2 0 2 1 2 2 2 3

FISCAL YEAR 2022
CITY OF MILLERSBURG

CALLS PER TIME OF DAY 

2
4

2
8

2
4

2
0

1
3

2
6

3
1

S U N D A Y M O N D A Y T U E S D A Y W E D N E S D A Y T H U R S D A Y F R I D A Y S A T U R D A Y

FISCAL YEAR 2022
CITY OF MILLERSBURG 

CALLS PER DAY OF THE WEEK

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

City of Millersburg 

Fire & Life Safety Evaluations 

Month FY 21 FY 22 

July 5 0 

August 4 2 

September 1 1 

October 1 2 

November 2 1 

December 15 N/A 

January  6  

February 10  

March 16  

April 1  

May 3  

June 7  

Total 71 5 

City of Millersburg 

Community Paramedic Referrals 

Month FY 21 FY 22 

July 0 2 

August 4 1 

September 2 4 

October 2 0 

November 0 0 

December 0  

January 2  

February 0  

March 0  

April  2  

May 0  

June 2  

Total 14 7 

51

Item 4)

49 of 147



TO: Millersburg City Council 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

FROM: Janelle Booth, Assistant City Manager/City Engineer 

DATE: January 6 for the January 11, 2022, City Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Fire Station 15 Project Report 

 

Project Summary:   

 

Architect:  Soderstrom 

Owner’s Representative:  David Evans and Associates 

Contractor:  Wildish Building Company 

Construction Notice to Proceed Date:  4/1/2021 

Construction Completion Date:  6/28/2022 

Project Description:  Construction of a 10,200 square foot new fire station, including 

site work and construction of new public street. 

 

Work Completed Last Two Weeks:   

 

 Fire tape ceilings and soffits 

 MEP rough-in at hard lids and walls Grids A-C 

 Sheetrock walls 

 Dry out building Grids A-C 

 Overhead door flashings 

 Mock-up of cement board siding/install started 

 Gutter/fascia install, roof install starting 

 WRB almost completely installed, along with insulation 

 Site electrical and underground utility slab ongoing 

 Coordination meeting with Complete Wireless and City for antennas 

 

Upcoming Work – Next Three Weeks:  

 

 Frame ceilings 

 Frame Locker wall 

 Continue sheet rocking 

 Install storefront 

 Operable windows have shipped - will be installed once arrived 

 Framing and cover inspections in Grids A-C, sheathing to follow 

 MEP overhead rough-in continuing 

 Install siding, including box rib mockup 

 Continue roofing install 

 Mockup CT panel 

 Site work - pipe crew likely won't be onsite this week due to weather/illness 

 Utility slab footings and slab 

 

52

Item 5)

50 of 147



 

Overall Project Schedule: 

 

 Schedule has been extended 20 working days, to a final completion date 

of June 28, 2022.  This is due to multiple supply chain issues, as well as rework 

of the utility court design. 

 

Financial Update: 

 

 Total Invoiced and Paid to Date:  $2,855,828.25 (47% of total project cost) 

 Change Order 1 – miscellaneous framing changes, over-excavation, 

additional sewer stubs.  Total amount of CO 1 – $34,896.  

 Change Order 2 – meeting room window, glazing-only.  Total amount of 

CO 2 - $1,173. 

 Change Order 3 – site electrical modifications, store front door changes, 

wood framing changes, plumbing modifications for truss deflection, 

weather barrier at fascia.  Total amount of CO 3 - $50,083. 

 Change Order 4 – flashing modifications, louver reframing, relocate UPS to 

laundry room, move gas line valve.  Total amount of CO 4 - $36,316. 

 

 Original Contract Cost Change Orders % of Contract 

Total $6,025,230 $122,468 2.0% 

Station $5,142,570 $109,686* 2.1% 

Public 

Infrastructure 

$882,660 $12,782 1.4% 

*Includes over-excavation of $3,600 based on price established in bid 

 

 

Attachment(s): 

 Current 3-week look ahead schedule 

53

Item 5)

51 of 147



S
ch

e
d

u
le

 

#
2

1

S
C

H
E

D
U

LE
 F

O
R

 W
E

E
K

S
:

M
O

N
T

U
E

W
E

D
T

H
U

F
R

I
S

A
T

S
U

N
M

O
N

T
U

E
W

E
D

T
H

U
F

R
I

S
A

T
S

U
N

M
O

N
T

U
E

W
E

D
T

H
U

F
R

I
S

A
T

S
U

N
M

O
N

1
/3

1
/4

1
/5

1
/6

1
/7

1
/8

1
/9

1
/1

0
1

/1
1

1
/1

2
1

/1
3

1
/1

4
1

/1
5

1
/1

6
1

/1
7

1
/1

8
1

/1
9

1
/2

0
1

/2
1

1
/2

2
1

/2
3

1
/2

4

B
u

il
d

in
g

 I
n

te
ri

o
r

F
ra

m
e

 D
a

y
 R

o
o

m
 C

e
il

in
g

 p
e

r 
R

F
I 

#
 1

6
5

N
F

S
F

ra
m

in
g

F
ra

m
in

g
F

ra
m

in
g

F
ra

m
e

 H
a

rd
 C

e
il

in
g

s
N

F
S

F
ra

m
in

g
F

ra
m

in
g

F
ra

m
in

g
F

ra
m

in
g

F
ra

m
in

g
F

ra
m

in
g

F
ra

m
in

g
F

ra
m

in
g

F
ra

m
e

 L
o

ck
e

r 
W

a
ll

N
F

S
F

ra
m

in
g

F
ra

m
in

g

M
E

P
F

 R
o

u
g

h
 I

n
 H

a
rd

 L
id

 G
y

p
 C

e
il

in
g

s
M

E
P

F
 S

u
b

s
M

E
P

F
 C

e
ili

n
g

s
M

E
P

F
 C

e
ili

n
g

s
M

E
P

F
 C

e
ili

n
g

s
M

E
P

F
 C

e
ili

n
g

s
M

E
P

F
 C

e
ili

n
g

s
M

E
P

F
 C

e
ili

n
g

s
M

E
P

F
 C

e
ili

n
g

s
M

E
P

F
 C

e
ili

n
g

s

S
u

sp
e

n
d

e
d

 S
o

ff
it

s/
 C

e
il

in
g

s 
F

ra
m

in
g

M
id

 V
a

ll
e

y
S

o
ff

it
s 

S
o

ff
it

s 
S

o
ff

it
s 

S
o

ff
it

s 
S

o
ff

it
s 

S
o

ff
it

s 
S

o
ff

it
s 

S
o

ff
it

s 
S

o
ff

it
s 

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck
 W

a
ll

s 
g

ri
d

s 
C

 t
o

 G
 1

0
0

%
M

id
 V

a
ll

e
y

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck
 1

0
0

%
S

h
e

e
tr

o
ck

 1
0

0
%

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck
 1

0
0

%

T
a

p
e

 a
n

d
 T

e
x

tu
re

 W
a

ll
s

M
id

 V
a

ll
e

y
T

a
p

e
/ 

te
xt

u
re

T
a

p
e

/ 
te

xt
u

re
T

a
p

e
/ 

te
xt

u
re

T
a

p
e

/ 
te

xt
u

re
T

a
p

e
/ 

te
xt

u
re

T
a

p
e

/ 
te

xt
u

re
T

a
p

e
/ 

te
xt

u
re

T
a

p
e

/ 
te

xt
u

re
T

a
p

e
/ 

te
xt

u
re

T
a

p
e

/ 
te

xt
u

re

A
lu

m
in

u
m

 S
to

re
fr

o
n

t 
In

st
a

ll
 D

o
o

rs
 

a
n

d
 G

la
ss

S
m

it
h

D
o

o
rs

 &
 G

la
ss

D
o

o
rs

 &
 G

la
ss

D
o

o
rs

 &
 G

la
ss

D
o

o
rs

 &
 G

la
ss

D
o

o
rs

 &
 G

la
ss

D
o

o
rs

 &
 G

la
ss

D
o

o
rs

 &
 G

la
ss

O
p

e
ra

b
le

 W
in

d
o

w
s 

In
st

a
ll

S
m

it
h

W
in

d
o

w
s

W
in

d
o

w
s

M
E

P
F

 R
o

u
g

h
 I

n
 W

a
ll

s 
G

ri
d

s 
A

 t
o

 C
M

E
P

F
 S

u
b

s
M

E
P

F
 R

o
u

g
h

 I
n

M
E

P
F

 R
o

u
g

h
 I

n

C
o

v
e

r 
In

sp
e

ct
io

n
s 

W
a

ll
s 

G
ri

d
s 

A
 t

o
 C

M
E

P
F

 S
u

b
s

In
sp

e
ct

io
n

s

F
ra

m
in

g
 I

n
sp

e
ct

io
n

 G
ri

d
s 

A
 t

o
 C

F
E

I,
 C

o
u

n
ty

F
ra

m
in

g

M
E

P
F

 I
n

ts
a

ll
 O

v
e

rh
e

a
d

  
g

ri
d

s 
A

 t
o

 C
Je

t
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C
H

V
A

C

D
ry

 O
u

t 
B

u
il

d
in

g
 G

ri
d

s 
A

 t
o

 C
W

il
d

is
h

 B
u

il
d

in
g

 C
o

.
D

ry
 O

u
t

D
ry

 O
u

t

In
su

la
te

 /
 V

a
p

o
r 

R
e

ta
rd

e
r 

G
ri

d
s 

A
 t

o
 C

H
o

m
e

 I
n

su
la

ti
o

n
In

su
la

te
/ 

V
a

p
o

r
I n

su
la

te
/ 

V
a

p
o

r
In

su
la

te
/ 

V
a

p
o

r
In

su
la

te
/ 

V
a

p
o

r
In

su
la

te
/ 

V
a

p
o

r
In

su
la

te
/ 

V
a

p
o

r

S
h

e
e

t 
In

te
ri

o
r 

A
p

p
a

ra
tu

s 
B

a
y

 P
ly

w
o

o
d

N
F

S
S

h
e

e
t

S
h

e
e

t
S

h
e

e
t

S
h

e
e

t

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck
 G

ri
d

s 
A

 t
o

 C
M

id
 V

a
ll

e
y

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck
S

h
e

e
tr

o
ck

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck
S

h
e

e
tr

o
ck

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck
S

h
e

e
tr

o
ck

B
u

il
d

in
g

 E
x

te
ri

o
r

O
v

e
rh

e
a

d
 D

o
o

r 
Ja

m
b

 F
la

sh
in

g
s

S
a

n
ti

a
m

F
la

sh
in

g
F

la
sh

in
g

F
la

sh
in

g

F
a

b
ri

ca
te

 P
re

ca
st

 P
a

n
e

ls
W

il
d

is
h

 B
u

il
d

in
g

 C
o

.
P

a
n

e
ls

P
a

n
e

ls
P

a
n

e
ls

P
a

n
e

ls
P

a
n

e
ls

P
a

n
e

ls
S

h
e

e
tr

o
ck

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck
S

h
e

e
tr

o
ck

S
h

e
e

tr
o

ck

F
la

sh
in

g
 a

t 
to

p
 o

f 
C

o
n

cr
e

te
 P

a
n

e
ls

JR
 S

w
ig

a
rt

F
la

sh
in

g
F

la
sh

in
g

M
o

ck
 u

p
 M

e
ta

l 
S

id
in

g
 f

o
r 

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l
JR

 S
w

ig
a

rt
m

o
ck

 u
p

m
o

ck
 u

p

M
e

ta
l 

S
id

in
g

 I
n

st
a

ll
 G

ri
d

s 
C

 t
o

 G
JR

 S
w

ig
a

rt
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g
M

e
ta

l S
id

d
in

g

C
e

m
e

n
t 

B
o

a
rd

 S
id

in
g

S
id

in
g

 S
p

e
ci

a
li

st
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
C

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd

M
E

P
 S

id
in

g
 T

ri
m

s
M

E
P

 s
u

b
s

S
id

in
g

 T
ri

m
s

S
id

in
g

 T
ri

m
s

S
id

in
g

 T
ri

m
s

S
id

in
g

 T
ri

m
s

S
id

in
g

 T
ri

m
s

G
u

tt
e

r 
B

ra
ck

e
ts

 I
n

st
a

ll
J R

 S
w

ig
a

rt
G

u
tt

e
r

G
u

tt
e

r

R
o

o
f 

D
ri

p
 M

e
ta

l 
J R

 S
w

ig
a

rt
D

ri
p

 M
e

ta
l

D
ri

p
 M

e
ta

l
D

ri
p

 M
e

ta
l

D
ri

p
 M

e
ta

l
D

ri
p

 M
e

ta
l

R
o

o
f 

In
st

a
ll

JR
 S

w
ig

a
rt

R
o

o
f 

 I
n

st
a

ll
R

o
o

f 
 I

n
st

a
ll

R
o

o
f 

 I
n

st
a

ll
R

o
o

f 
 I

n
st

a
ll

R
o

o
f 

 I
n

st
a

ll

R
o

o
f 

P
e

ri
m

e
te

r 
F

la
sh

in
g

s
JR

 S
w

ig
a

rt
R

o
o

f 
F

la
sh

in
g

s
R

o
o

f 
F

la
sh

in
g

s
R

o
o

f 
F

la
sh

in
g

s
R

o
o

f 
F

la
sh

in
g

s
R

o
o

f 
F

la
sh

in
g

s

W
ra

p
 B

e
a

m
s 

S
h

e
e

tm
e

ta
l

S
a

n
ti

a
m

B
e

a
m

s
B

e
a

m
s

B
e

a
m

s

E
le

ct
ri

ca
l 

C
T

 M
o

ck
 U

P
S

u
p

e
ri

o
r 

E
le

ct
C

T
C

T

M
e

ta
l 

B
a

ck
 P

a
n

e
l 

@
 C

T
 M

e
te

r
S

a
n

ti
a

m
M

e
ta

l  
P

a
n

e
l

M
e

ta
l  

P
a

n
e

l
M

e
ta

l  
P

a
n

e
l

M
e

ta
l  

P
a

n
e

l
M

e
ta

l  
P

a
n

e
l

W
R

B
 E

x
te

ri
o

r 
W

a
ll

s 
G

ri
d

s 
A

 t
o

 C
H

o
m

e
W

R
B

W
R

B

to
 

R
e

m
a

rk
s

M
il

e
s
to

n
e

s
: 

N
o

ti
ce

 t
o

 P
ro

ce
e

d
: 

 4
/1

/2
1

P
re

co
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 M

e
e

ti
n

g
: 

 4
/6

/2
1

1
2

0
0

C
 P

e
rm

it
 R

e
ci

e
v

e
d

: 
 5

/4
/2

1

S
ta

rt
 o

f 
W

o
rk

: 
 5

/1
0

/2
1

S
u

b
st

a
n

ti
a

l 
C

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
: 

 5
/2

/2
2

F
in

a
l 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

: 
 5

/3
1

/2
2

  
  

  
5

3
9

5
 M

il
le

rs
b

u
rg

 F
ir

e
 S

ta
ti

o
n

 1
5

1
/3

/2
0

2
2

1
/2

4
/2

0
2

2

T
h

re
e

 W
e

e
k

 L
o

o
k

 A
h

e
a

d

A
ct

iv
it

y
C

re
w

/S
u

b

P
e

n
d

in
g

 s
tr

u
ct

u
ra

l 
d

e
ta

il
s 

R
F

I

P
e

n
d

in
g

 A
p

p
ro

ve
d

 P
ri

ci
n

g

54

Ite
m

 5
)

52 of 147



M
O

N
T

U
E

W
E

D
T

H
U

F
R

I
S

A
T

S
U

N
M

O
N

T
U

E
W

E
D

T
H

U
F

R
I

S
A

T
S

U
N

M
O

N
T

U
E

W
E

D
T

H
U

F
R

I
S

A
T

S
U

N
M

O
N

1
/3

1
/4

1
/5

1
/6

1
/7

1
/8

1
/9

1
/1

0
1

/1
1

1
/1

2
1

/1
3

1
/1

4
1

/1
5

1
/1

6
1

/1
7

1
/1

8
1

/1
9

1
/2

0
1

/2
1

1
/2

2
1

/2
3

1
/2

4
R

e
m

a
rk

s
A

ct
iv

it
y

C
re

w
/S

u
b

M
e

ta
l 

w
a

ll
 F

la
sh

in
g

s 
G

ri
d

s 
A

 t
o

 C
JR

 S
w

ig
a

rt
F

la
sh

in
g

s
F

la
sh

in
g

s

E
x

te
ri

o
r 

In
su

la
ti

o
n

 G
ri

d
s 

A
 t

o
 C

H
o

m
e

In
su

la
ti

o
n

In
su

la
ti

o
n

In
su

la
ti

o
n

S
it

e
 W

o
rk

E
x

ca
v

a
te

 f
o

r 
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

W
il

d
is

h
 

C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

 C
o

.
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

S
it

e
 E

le
ct

ri
ca

l
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

S
it

e
 E

le
ct

ri
ca

l
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

S
it

e
 E

le
ct

ri
ca

l
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

S
it

e
 E

le
ct

ri
ca

l
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

In
st

a
ll

 S
it

e
 E

le
ct

ri
ca

l
S

u
p

e
ri

o
r 

E
le

ct
ri

c
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

S
it

e
 E

le
ct

ri
ca

l
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

S
it

e
 E

le
ct

ri
ca

l
S

it
e

 E
le

ct
ri

ca
l

S
tr

e
e

t 
E

x
ca

v
a

te
, 

F
a

b
ri

c 
&

 R
o

ck
W

il
d

is
h

 

C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

 C
o

.
S

tr
e

e
t

S
tr

e
e

t
S

tr
e

e
t

S
tr

e
e

t
S

tr
e

e
t

B
u

il
d

 S
w

a
le

s
W

il
d

is
h

 

C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

 C
o

.
S

w
a

le
s

S
w

a
le

s
S

w
a

le
s

S
w

a
le

s
S

w
a

le
s

S
w

a
le

s

U
ti

li
ty

 S
la

b
 M

E
P

 R
o

u
g

h
 I

n
 

S
u

p
e

ri
o

r 
E

le
ct

ri
c,

 

JE
T

U
n

d
e

rs
la

b
 r

o
u

g
h

 in
U

n
d

e
rs

la
b

 r
o

u
g

h
 in

U
n

d
e

rs
la

b
 r

o
u

g
h

 in

F
o

rm
 U

ti
li

ty
 S

la
b

s 
F

o
o

ti
n

g
s

W
il

d
is

h
 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 C
o

.
F

o
rm

s
F

o
rm

s
F

o
rm

s

R
e

b
a

r 
O

rd
e

r 
a

n
d

 I
n

st
a

ll
R

2
M

2
R

e
b

a
r

R
e

b
a

r
R

e
b

a
r

P
o

u
r 

F
o

o
ti

n
g

s 
U

ti
li

ty
 C

o
u

rt
W

il
d

is
h

 B
u

il
d

in
g

 C
o

.
F

o
o

ti
n

g
s

F
o

o
ti

n
g

s
F

o
o

ti
n

g
s

G
a

s 
Li

n
e

 P
ri

ci
n

g
W

il
d

is
h

 B
u

il
d

in
g

 C
o

.
P

ri
ci

n
g

P
ri

ci
n

g
P

ri
ci

n
g

G
a

s 
Li

n
e

 I
n

st
a

ll
W

il
d

is
h

 B
u

il
d

in
g

 C
o

.

P
e

n
d

in
g

 n
e

w
 d

e
si

g
n

 f
ro

m
 O

w
n

e
r

P
e

n
d

in
g

 U
ti

li
ty

 C
o

u
rt

 D
e

si
g

n
 R

e
v.

3

O
k 

to
 p

ro
ce

e
d

 u
n

d
e

rs
la

b
 1

1
-2

3
-2

1

P
e

n
d

in
g

 U
ti

li
ty

 C
o

u
rt

 D
e

si
g

n
 R

e
v.

3

P
e

n
d

in
g

 U
ti

li
ty

 C
o

u
rt

 D
e

si
g

n
 R

e
v.

3

55

Ite
m

 5
)

53 of 147



TO: Millersburg City Council 
 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 
 

FROM: City Staff 
 

DATE: January 3, 2022, for Council Meeting January 11, 2022 

SUBJECT: Project Updates Memo 
 

 

Monthly Update on Projects:  
Staff are currently in the process of implementing many projects and activities in 

the City to address objectives of the Strategic Plan, direction from Council, and 

needs staff have identified.  
 

There are many tasks currently in progress. An overview of several specific tasks 

and projects is provided below.  

 

Water Management and Conservation Plan  

The Water Management and Conservation Plan (WMCP) draft has been 

completed and will be submitted for agency review and comment next week.  The 

final draft will be submitted to the Oregon Water Resources Department in 

February.  Outcomes of the WMCP will be presented to Council at a future 

meeting. 

 

Snow Response  

During the period of December 26 - 28, the City experienced a winter weather 

event with approximately 2.5 inches of snow on Sunday followed by 4 inches 

Monday.  In preparation for this type of event, staff developed a Snow Removal 

Annex, which will become a part of our Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP).  The 

plan establishes streets with primary and secondary priority levels, based on 

accessibility for emergency response and identifies additional priority streets to be 

cleared as conditions and resources allow (see attached snow removal maps). 

 

This plan was activated and plowing resources were engaged to clear roads within 

the City.  Information was posted to the City website, informing residents of streets 

to be plowed and considerations that should be taken for vehicles parked in the 

street, clearing of driveways and sidewalks, etc. 

 

56

Item 6)

54 of 147



55 of 147



56 of 147



TO: Millersburg City Council 

FROM: Kevin Kreitman 

DATE: January 3, 2022, for January 11, 2022, Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Health Insurance Plan Rates Effective April 1, 2022 

Action Requested:   

Review of information on our health insurance plan. 

 

Discussion: 

The City’s health insurance plan is due for renewal on April 1st.  Our medical 

insurance broker, Aldrich Advisors, has notified us of our health care provider, 

Providence Health Plans, new rates for our plans effective April 1, 2022.   

 

As background, we moved to new plans three years ago, which included the 

offering of a Health Savings Account (HSA) eligible plan and a non-HSA base 

medical plan for employees with the option to buy up to a plan with better 

coverage, in which employees would be responsible for the cost of the plan 

difference above our base plan offering. 

 

Effective April 1, 2022, there are some minor changes to our current plans, 

associated with co-pays for virtual office visits and chiropractic and acupuncture 

services.  Currently all our employees are participating in the non-HSA base 

medical plan. 

 

The City’s intent is to continue to provide the ability for employees to subscribe to 

an enhanced plan and the HSA plan; employees selecting the enhanced plan 

are responsible for contributions costs above the base (non-HSA) plan.  You may 

recall last year we experienced a 3.9 percent decrease in the HSA plan, and 

only a 0.3 percent increase in the non-HSA plan. 

 

The proposed renewals rates for April of this year are listed below: 

 

HSA current(family)  $1,468.30 proposed  $1,413.15 3.8% decrease 

Non-HSA base plan(family) $1,741.05 proposed $1,654.15 5.0% decrease 

We do not currently have any employees selecting the enhanced plan. 

 

Our current fiscal year budget estimated a 2.5 percent insurance cost increase.  

Our mapped renewal for the plans will result in a monthly cost for our current 

employees of $6,703.65 monthly. 

 

Budget Impact: 

Cost savings, with sufficient funds currently budgeted. 

 

Recommendation: 

No action required, information only. 

59

Item 7)

57 of 147



TO: Millersburg City Council 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

FROM: Janelle Booth, Assistant City Manager/City Engineer 

DATE: January 6, 2022, for January 11, 2022, Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Water and Sewer Rate Increases – Previously Adopted 

Action Requested:   

Review of information regarding upcoming water and sewer rate increases. 

 

Discussion: 

In March of 2021, the City adopted new water and sewer rate structures. At the 

time, a schedule of rate increases for the subsequent five years was also 

adopted for both water and sewer rates. The adopted schedule is shown below. 

 

Adopted Rate Increase Schedule   

Date Water Sewer 

February 1, 2022 3.0% 7.5% 

February 1, 2023 3.0% 7.5% 

February 1, 2024 3.0% 7.5% 

February 1, 2025 3.0% 7.5% 

February 1, 2026 3.0% 3.0% 

 

The first of the rate increases will go into effect beginning February 1, 2022 and 

will be reflected on customer bills beginning in April 2022. 

 

Budget Impact: 

These adopted rate increases will enable utility revenues to cover expenditures 

over the next five years. 

 

Recommendation: 

No action required, information only. 

 

Attachment(s): 

 Resolution 2021-05 Adopting Planned Water Rate Increases 

 Resolution 2021-06 Adopting Planned Sewer Rate Increases 

 

60

Item 8)

58 of 147



61

Item 8)

59 of 147



62

Item 8)

60 of 147



TO: Millersburg City Council 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

FROM: Matt Straite, Community Development Director 

DATE: January 6, 2022, for January 11, 2022, Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Housing Needs Assessment/Buildable Lands Inventory update 

Action Requested:   

No action required. This is an update. 

 

Discussion: 

The City has commissioned a Housing Needs Assessment and Buildable Lands 

Inventory (HNA/BLI) analysis, performed by ECONorthwest.  The consultant has 

provided two drafts of the study.  Staff have provided some additional 

comments for the second draft and are anticipating a final draft next month.  

The final comments are small in nature and should not affect the larger points 

from the study.   

 

The intent of this update is to provide Council a summary of the draft study and 

its main points.    

 

Budget Impact: 

The study has already been included in the 2021 budget.   

 

Recommendation: 

No action required. Information only. 

 

Attachment(s): 

 Draft HNA/BLI 

63

Item 9)

61 of 147



City of Millersburg 
2021—2041 Housing Capacity Analysis

November 2021 

Prepared for: City of Millersburg 

DRAFT REPORT 

KOIN Center 
222 SW Columbia Street 

Suite 1600 
Portland, OR 97201 

503-222-6060

62 of 147



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally blank 

   

63 of 147



Acknowledgements 

ECONorthwest prepared this report for the City of Millersburg. ECONorthwest and the City of 

Millersburg thank those who helped develop the Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis.  

City of Millersburg 

 Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

 Janelle Booth, Assistant City Manager/City Engineer 

 Matt Straite, Community Development Director 

Consulting Team  

 Beth Goodman, Project Director, ECONorthwest 

 Margaret Raimann, Project Manager, ECONorthwest 

 John Morgan 

City of Millersburg Contact: 

Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

4222 NE Old Salem Road,  

Albany, Oregon 97321 

458‐233‐6300 

kkreitman@cityofmillersburg.org 

ECONorthwest Contact: 

Beth Goodman, Project Director 

ECONorthwest 

222 SW Columbia, Suite 1600 

Portland, OR 97201 

503‐222‐6060 

goodman@econw.com 

   

64 of 147



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally blank 

   

65 of 147



Table of Contents 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ..................................................................................................................................... III 

1.  INTRODUCTION.......................................................................................................................................... 1 

FRAMEWORK FOR A HOUSING CAPACITY ANALYSIS ........................................................................................................... 1 
ORGANIZATION OF THIS REPORT ................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.  RESIDENTIAL BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY .............................................................................................. 4 

RESIDENTIAL BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY RESULTS ......................................................................................................... 4 

3.  HISTORICAL AND RECENT DEVELOPMENT TRENDS ...................................................................................... 9 

DATA USED IN THIS ANALYSIS ..................................................................................................................................... 10 
TRENDS IN HOUSING MIX .......................................................................................................................................... 12 
TRENDS IN TENURE ................................................................................................................................................... 14 
VACANCY RATES ...................................................................................................................................................... 16 

4.  DEMOGRAPHIC AND OTHER FACTORS AFFECTING RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT IN MILLERSBURG ............. 17 

DEMOGRAPHIC AND SOCIOECONOMIC FACTORS AFFECTING HOUSING CHOICE .................................................................... 18 
REGIONAL AND LOCAL TRENDS AFFECTING AFFORDABILITY IN MILLERSBURG ....................................................................... 47 
SUMMARY OF THE FACTORS AFFECTING MILLERSBURG’S  HOUSING NEEDS ......................................................................... 58 

5.  HOUSING NEED IN MILLERSBURG .............................................................................................................. 61 

PROJECT NEW HOUSING UNITS NEEDED IN THE NEXT 20 YEARS ....................................................................................... 61 
NEEDED HOUSING BY INCOME LEVEL ........................................................................................................................... 66 
NEED FOR INCOME‐RESTRICTED, FARMWORKER, MANUFACTURED HOUSING, PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES, AND PEOPLE 
EXPERIENCING HOMELESSNESS ................................................................................................................................... 67 

6.  RESIDENTIAL LAND SUFFICIENCY IN MILLERSBURG .................................................................................... 70 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS .................................................................................................................................................. 70 
RESIDENTIAL LAND SUFFICIENCY ................................................................................................................................. 72 
CONCLUSIONS ......................................................................................................................................................... 72 

APPENDIX A: RESIDENTIAL BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY .................................................................................. 74 

OVERVIEW OF THE METHODOLOGY ............................................................................................................................. 74 
INVENTORY STEPS .................................................................................................................................................... 74 

 

   

66 of 147



 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally blank

67 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  1

1. Introduction 

This report presents Millersburg’s Housing Capacity Analysis for the 2021 to 2041 period. It is 

intended to comply with statewide planning policies that govern planning for housing and 

residential development, including Goal 10 (Housing) and OAR 660 Division 8. The methods 

used for this study generally follow the Planning for Residential Growth guidebook, published by 

the Oregon Transportation and Growth Management Program (1996). 

The city has changed considerably over the last 20 years. Millersburg grew from 651 people in 

2000 to 2,850 people in 2020. This is an addition of 2,199 people or 338% growth. In recent years, 

median housing prices in Millersburg increased from about $312,000 in 2016 to $414,000 in 2020 

a 33% increase.  

This report provides Millersburg with a factual basis to update the Housing Element of the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan and zoning code, and to support future planning efforts related to 

housing and options for addressing unmet housing needs in Millersburg. This report provides 

information that informs future planning efforts, including development and redevelopment. 

This report provides the city with information about the housing market in Millersburg and 

describes the factors that will affect future housing demand in Millersburg, such as changing 

demographics. This analysis will help decision makers understand whether Millersburg has 

enough land to accommodate growth over the next 20 years.  

Framework for a Housing Capacity Analysis 

Economists view housing as a bundle of services for which people are willing to pay, shelter 

certainly, but also proximity to other attractions (job, shopping, recreation), amenities (type and 

quality of fixtures and appliances, landscaping, views), prestige, and access to public services 

(quality of schools). Because it is impossible to maximize all these services and simultaneously 

minimize costs, households must, and do, make tradeoffs. What they can get for their money is 

influenced both by economic forces and government policy. Moreover, different households 

will value what they can get differently. They will have different preferences, which in turn are 

a function of many factors like income, age of household head, number of people and children 

in the household, number of workers and job locations, number of automobiles, and so on. 

Thus, housing choices of individual households are influenced in complex ways by dozens of 

factors and the housing market in Linn County and Millersburg are the result of the individual 

decisions of thousands of households. These points help to underscore the complexity of 

projecting what types of housing will be built in Millersburg between 2021 and 2041. 

The complex nature of the housing market, demonstrated by the unprecedented boom and bust 

during the past decade, does not eliminate the need for some type of forecast of future housing 

demand and need. This includes resulting implications for land demand and consumption. 

Such forecasts are inherently uncertain. Their usefulness for public policy often derives more 

68 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  2

from the explanation of their underlying assumptions about the dynamics of markets and 

policies than from the specific estimates of future demand and need. Thus, we start our housing 

analysis with a framework for thinking about housing and residential markets, and how public 

policy affects those markets.  

Statewide Planning Goal 10 

The passage of the Oregon Land Use Planning Act of 1974 (ORS Chapter 197) established the 

Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC) and the Department of Land 

Conservation and Development (DLCD). The Act required the Commission to develop and 

adopt a set of statewide planning goals. Goal 10 addresses housing in Oregon and provides 

guidelines for local governments to follow in developing their local comprehensive land use 

plans and implementing policies.  

At a minimum, local housing policies must meet the requirements of Goal 10 and the statutes 

and administrative rules that implement it (ORS 197.295 to 197.314, ORS 197.475 to 197.490, and 

OAR 600‐008).1 Goal 10 requires incorporated cities to complete an inventory of buildable 

residential lands. Goal 10 also requires cities to encourage the numbers of housing units in price 

and rent ranges commensurate with the financial capabilities of its households.  

Goal 10 defines needed housing types as “all housing on land zoned for residential use or 

mixed residential and commercial use that is determined to meet the need shown for housing 

within an urban growth boundary at price ranges and rent levels that are affordable to 

households within the county with a variety of incomes, including but not limited to 

households with low‐incomes, very low‐incomes and extremely low‐incomes.” ORS 197.303 

defines needed housing types: 

(a) Housing that includes, but is not limited to, attached and detached single‐family housing 

and multiple family housing for both owner and renter occupancy. 
(b) Government assisted housing.2 

(c) Mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks as provided in ORS 197.475 to 197.490. 

(d) Manufactured homes on individual lots planned and zoned for single‐family residential 

use that are in addition to lots within designated manufactured dwelling subdivisions. 

(e) Housing for farmworkers. 

DLCD provides guidance on conducting a Housing Capacity Analysis in the document 

Planning for Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon’s Urban Areas, referred to as the 

Workbook.  

 
1 ORS 197.296 only applies to cities with populations over 25,000. Millersburg’s population, based on PSU’s estimate, 

was 2,850 in 2020.  

2 Government assisted housing can be any housing type listed in ORS 197.303 (a), (c), or (d). 

69 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  3

Millersburg must identify needs for all of the housing types listed above as well as adopt 

policies that increase the likelihood that needed housing types will be developed. This Housing 

Capacity Analysis was developed to meet the requirements of Goal 10 and its implementing 

administrative rules and statutes. 

Organization of this Report 

The rest of this document is organized as follows: 

 Chapter 2. Residential Buildable Lands Inventory presents the methodology and results 

of Millersburg’s inventory of residential land.  

 Chapter 3. Historical and Recent Development Trends summarizes the state, regional, 

and local housing market trends affecting Millersburg’s housing market. 

 Chapter 4. Demographic and Other Factors Affecting Residential Development in 
Millersburg presents factors that affect housing need in Millersburg, focusing on the key 

determinants of housing need: age, income, and household composition. This chapter also 

describes housing affordability in Millersburg relative to the larger region.  

 Chapter 5. Housing Need in Millersburg presents the forecast for housing growth in 

Millersburg, describing housing need by density ranges and income levels. 

 Chapter 6. Residential Land Sufficiency in Millersburg estimates Millersburg’s 

residential land sufficiency needed to accommodate expected growth over the planning 

period. 

   

70 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  4

2. Residential Buildable Lands Inventory 

The general structure of the standard method BLI analysis is based on the DLCD HB 2709 

workbook “Planning for Residential Growth – A Workbook for Oregon’s Urban Areas,” which 

specifically addresses residential lands. The steps and sub‐steps in the supply inventory are: 

1. Calculate the gross vacant acres by plan designation, including fully vacant and partially 

vacant parcels. 

2. Calculate gross buildable vacant acres by plan designation by subtracting unbuildable 

acres from total acres. 

3. Calculate net buildable acres by plan designation, subtracting land for future public 

facilities from gross buildable vacant acres. 

4. Calculate total net buildable acres by plan designation by adding redevelopable acres to 

net buildable acres.  

The methods used for this study are consistent with many others completed by ECONorthwest 

that have been acknowledged by DLCD and LCDC. A detailed discussion of the methodology 

used in this study is provided in Appendix A. The BLI for Millersburg includes all residential 

land designated in the comprehensive plan within the Millersburg UGB. From a practical 

perspective, this means that all lands within tax lots identified by the Linn County Assessor’s 

Office that fall within the UGB were inventoried. ECO used the most recent tax lot shapefile 

from the Linn County for the analysis. The inventory then builds from the tax lot‐level database 

to estimates of buildable land by plan designation.  

Residential Buildable Land Inventory Results  

Land Base 

As defined above, the land base for the Millersburg residential BLI includes all tax lots in the 

urban growth boundary (UGB) in residential plan designations. Exhibit 1 shows the land base 

by generalized plan designation in the UGB. There are 1,198 tax lots in the land base, accounting 

for 773 acres.  

71 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  5

Exhibit 1. Land Base by Plan Designation, Millersburg UGB, 2021 
Source: Linn County, ECONorthwest analysis.  

  

 

Development Status 

We used a rule‐based classification (defined in the methods and definitions above) to define an 

initial development status. Then, we used a rapid visual assessment method to confirm this 

development status using aerial imagery. The buildable lands inventory identifies floodplain, 

waterways, BPA right of way, and slopes greater than 25% as constraints that prohibit 

development. Vacant or partially vacant land with these constraints is considered unavailable 

for development and removed from the inventory of buildable land. 

Exhibit 2 shows development status with constraints applied and resulting in buildable acres. 

Of the 773 total acres in the land base, 301 are committed acres, 56 are constrained acres, and 

416 are buildable acres.  

Exhibit 2. Development Status with Constraints, by Plan Designation, Millersburg UGB, 2021 
Source: Linn County, ECONorthwest analysis.  

 
 

Exhibit 3 shows residential land by development status with constraints overlaid.  

Plan Designation and Zoning
Number of 

Taxlots
Percent

Total Taxlot 
Acreage

Percent

Residential
Residential Low 1,128          94% 541             70%

Residential Mixed Density 27               2% 9                 1%

Rural 34               3% 172             22%

Commercial
Mixed Use 9                 1% 51               7%

Total 1,198        100% 773 100%

Plan Designation and Zoning
Committed 

Acres
 Constrained 

Acres
 Buildable 

Acres 
Total Acres

Residential
Residential Low 285                48                  208                541                

Residential Mixed Density 9                    -                 -                 9                    

Rural 6                    7                    159                172                

Commercial
Mixed Use 1                    1                    49                  51                  

Total 301               56                 416               773               

72 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  6

Exhibit 3. Residential Land by Development Status, Millersburg UGB, 2021

 
 

 

73 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  7

Vacant Buildable Land 

Exhibit 4 shows buildable acres (i.e., acres in tax lots after constraints are deducted) for vacant 

and partially vacant land by plan designation. Of Millersburg’s 416 unconstrained buildable 

residential acres, about 30% are in tax lots classified as vacant, and 70% are in tax lots classified 

as partially vacant. Millersburg has about 49 buildable acres in the mixed‐use zone.  

Exhibit 4. Buildable Acres in Vacant and Partially Vacant Tax Lots by Plan Designation, 
Millersburg UGB, 2021 
Source: Linn County, ECONorthwest analysis.  

 
 

Exhibit 5 shows Millersburg’s buildable vacant and partially vacant residential land.   

   

Plan Designation and 
Zoning

Vacant Acres
Partially 

Vacant Acres

Total 
Buildable 

Acres

Residential 
Residential Low 39                   169                 208            
Rural 55                   104                 159            

Commercial
Mixed Use 32                   17                   49              

Total 126                 290                 416            

74 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  8

Exhibit 5. Unconstrained Vacant and Partially Vacant Residential Land, Millersburg UGB, 2021 

 

75 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  9

3. Historical and Recent Development Trends 

Analysis of historical development trends in Millersburg provides insight into the functioning 

of the local housing market. The mix of housing types and densities, in particular, are key 

variables in forecasting the capacity of residential land to accommodate new housing and to 

forecast future land need. The specific steps are described in Task 2 of the DLCD Planning for 

Residential Lands Workbook as:  

1. Determine the time period for which the data will be analyzed. 

2. Identify types of housing to address (all needed housing types). 

3. Evaluate permit/subdivision data to calculate the actual mix, average actual gross 

density, and average actual net density of all housing types. 

This Housing Capacity Analysis examines changes in Millersburg’s housing market from 2000 

to 2021. We selected this time period because the period provides information about 

Millersburg’s housing market before and after the national housing market bubble’s growth, 

deflation, and the more recent increase in housing costs and data about Millersburg’s housing 

market during this period is readily available from sources such as the Census (through the 

2015‐2019 ACS 5‐year estimate period).3 

The Housing Capacity Analysis presents information about residential development by housing 

type. There are multiple ways that housing types can be grouped. For example, they can be 

grouped by:  

1. Structure type (e.g., single‐family detached, apartments, etc.). 

2. Tenure (e.g., distinguishing unit type by owner or renter units). 

3. Housing affordability (e.g., subsidized housing or units affordable at given income 

levels). 

4. Some combination of these categories. 

For the purposes of this study, we grouped housing types based on: (1) whether the structure is 

stand‐alone or attached to another structure and (2) the number of dwelling units in each 

structure. The housing types used in this analysis are consistent with needed housing types as 

defined in ORS 197.303:4 

 Single‐family detached includes single‐family detached units, manufactured homes on 

lots and in mobile home parks, and accessory dwelling units. 

 
3 ORS 197.296(5)(a) requires cities to determine housing capacity based on “…data relating to land within the urban 

growth boundary that has been collected since the last periodic review or five years, whichever is greater.”  

4 ORS 197.303 defines needed housing as “…all housing on land zoned for residential use or mixed residential and 

commercial use that is determined to meet the need shown for housing within an urban growth boundary at price 

ranges and rent levels that are affordable to households within the county with a variety of incomes.” 

76 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  10

 Single‐family attached is all structures with a common wall where each dwelling unit 

occupies a separate lot, such as row houses or townhouses. 

 Multifamily is all attached structures (e.g., duplexes, tri‐plexes, quad‐plexes, and 

structures with five or more units) other than single‐family detached units, 

manufactured units, or single‐family attached units.  

In Millersburg, government assisted housing (ORS 197.303(b)) and housing for farmworkers 

(ORS 197.303(e)) can be any of the housing types listed above. Analysis within this report 

discusses housing affordability at a variety of incomes, as required in ORS 197.303. 

Data Used in this Analysis 

Throughout this analysis (including the subsequent Chapter 4), we used data from multiple 

well‐recognized and reliable data sources. One of the key sources for housing and household 

data is the U.S. Census. This report primarily uses data from three Census sources: 

 The Decennial Census, which is completed every ten years and is a survey of all 

households in the U.S. The Decennial Census is considered the best available data for 

information such as demographics (e.g., number of people, age distribution, or ethnic or 

racial composition), household characteristics (e.g., household size and composition), 

and housing occupancy characteristics. As of 2010, the Decennial Census does not collect 

more detailed household information, such as income, housing costs, housing 

characteristics, and other important household information. Decennial Census data is 

available for 2000 and 2010.  

 The American Community Survey (ACS), which is completed every year and is a 

sample of households in the U.S. From 2015 to 2019, the ACS sampled an average of 3.5 

million households per year, or 2.9% of the households in the nation. The ACS collects 

detailed information about households, including demographics (e.g., number of 

people, age distribution, ethnic or racial composition, country of origin, language 

spoken at home, and educational attainment), household characteristics (e.g., household 

size and composition), housing characteristics (e.g., type of housing unit, year unit built, 

or number of bedrooms), housing costs (e.g., rent, mortgage, utility, and insurance), 

housing value, income, and other characteristics. 

 Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS), which is custom tabulations 

of American Community Survey (ACS) data from the U.S. Census Bureau for the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). CHAS data show the extent of 

housing problems and housing needs, particularly for low‐income households. CHAS 

data are typically used by local governments as part of their consolidated planning work 

to plan how to spend HUD funds and for HUD to distribute grant funds. The most up‐

to‐date CHAS data covers the 2013‐2017 period, which is two years older than the most 

recent ACS data for the 2015‐2019 period.  

77 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  11

This report uses data from the 2015‐2019 ACS for Millersburg. Where information is available 

and relevant, we report information from the 2000 and 2010 Decennial Census. Among other 

data points, this report includes population, income, and housing price data from Redfin and 

the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. It also uses the Oregon 

Department of Housing and Community Services affordable housing inventory. 

The foundation of the Housing Capacity Analysis is the population forecast for Millersburg 

from the Oregon Population Forecast Program. The forecast is prepared by the Portland State 

University Population Research Center. 

It is worth commenting on the methods used for the American Community Survey.5 The 

American Community Survey (ACS) is a national survey that uses continuous measurement 

methods. It uses a sample of about 3.54 million households to produce annually updated 

estimates for the same small areas (census tracts and block groups) formerly surveyed via the 

decennial census long‐form sample. It is also important to keep in mind that all ACS data are 

estimates that are subject to sample variability. This variability is referred to as “sampling 

error” and is expressed as a band or “margin of error” (MOE) around the estimate. 

This report uses Census and ACS data because, despite the inherent methodological limits, they 

represent the most thorough and accurate data available to assess housing needs. We consider 

these limitations in making interpretations of the data and have strived not to draw conclusions 

beyond the quality of the data. 

   

 
5 A thorough description of the ACS can be found in the Census Bureau’s publication “What Local Governments 

Need to Know.” https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2009/acs/state‐and‐local.html 

78 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  12

Trends in Housing Mix  

This section provides an overview of changes in the mix of housing types in Millersburg and 

compares Millersburg to Linn County and to Oregon. These trends demonstrate the types of 

housing developed in Millersburg historically. Unless otherwise noted, this chapter uses data 

from the 2000 and 2010 Decennial Census and the 2015‐2019 American Community Survey 5‐

Year Estimates. 

This section shows the following trends in housing mix in Millersburg: 

 Millersburg’s housing stock is predominantly single‐family detached housing units. 

Ninety‐seven percent of Millersburg’s housing stock is single‐family detached, 1% is 

multifamily, and 2% is single‐family attached (e.g., townhouses).  

 Since 2000, Millersburg’s housing stock has more than doubled. Millersburg’s housing 

stock grew by about 159% (about 453 new units) between 2000 and the 2015‐2019 period. 

Housing Mix 

The total number of dwelling 
units in Millersburg increased 
by 159% from 2000 to 2015-
2019. 
Millersburg has added 453 
units since 2000. 

Exhibit 6. Total Dwelling Units, Millersburg, 2000 and 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census, SF3 Table H030, and 
2015-2019 ACS Table B25024. 

 

285

738

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2000 2015-2019

To
ta

l H
ou

si
ng

 U
ni

ts

79 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  13

Ninety-seven percent of 
Millersburg’s housing stock is 
single-family detached.  
Millersburg has a smaller 
share of multifamily housing 
than both Linn County and 
the state. 

Exhibit 7. Housing Mix, Millersburg, Linn County, and Oregon, 
2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS Table B25024. 

 

From 2000 to 2015-2019, 
the share of multifamily 
housing in Millersburg 
decreased. 

Exhibit 8. Change in Housing Mix, Millersburg, 2000 and 2015-
2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census, SF3 Table H030, and 
2015-2019 ACS Table B25024. 

 

 

97%

80%
72%

2%

4%
5%

1%

6%
7%

10% 17%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

Single-Family Detached Single-Family Attached

Duplex, Triplex, Quadplex Multifamily (5+ units)

84%
97%

11%
2%5% 1%1%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2000 2015-2019
Single-Family Detached Single-Family Attached
Duplex, Triplex, Quadplex Multifamily (5+ units)

80 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  14

Trends in Tenure 

Housing tenure describes whether a dwelling is owner‐ or renter‐occupied. This section shows: 

 Homeownership rates in Millersburg are higher than Linn County’s and Oregon’s 

rate. About 89% of Millersburg’s households own their home. In comparison, 59% of 

Linn County households and 62% of Oregon households are homeowners. 

 Homeownership rates in Millersburg increased between 2000 and 2015‐2019. In 2000, 

74% of Millersburg households were homeowners. This grew to 83% in 2010 and 89% in 

2015‐2019. 

 All Millersburg homeowners live in single‐family detached housing, while just over a 

quarter of renters (27%) live in single‐family attached housing or duplexes, triplexes, 

or quadplexes. 

The homeownership rate in 
Millersburg had increased 
by 15 percentage points 
since 2000. 

Exhibit 9. Tenure, Occupied Units, Millersburg, 2000 - 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census SF1 Table H004, 2010 
Decennial Census SF1 Table H4, 2015-2019 ACS Table B24003. 

 

74%
83%

89%

26%
17% 11%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2000 2010 2015-2019

Owner-Occupied Renter-Occupied

81 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  15

Millersburg has a higher 
homeownership rate than 
Linn County and Oregon. 

Exhibit 10. Tenure, Occupied Units, Millersburg, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-Year Estimates, Table B24003. 

 

All homeowners live in 
single-family detached 
housing.  
In comparison, just over a 
quarter of Millersburg’s 
households that rent live in 
single family attached 
housing (e.g., townhomes) 
or duplexes, triplexes or 
quadplexes. 

Exhibit 11. Housing Units by Type and Tenure, Millersburg, 2015-
2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS Table B25032. 

 

89%

59% 62%

11%

41% 38%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

Owner occupied Renter Occupied

100%

73%

18%

9%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Owner Renter

Single-family detached
Single-family attached
Duplex, Triplex, Quadplex
Multifamily (5+ units)

82 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  16

Vacancy Rates 

Housing vacancy is a measure of housing that is available to prospective renters and buyers. It 

is also a measure of unutilized housing stock. The Census defines vacancy as: ʺUnoccupied 

housing units… determined by the terms under which the unit may be occupied, e.g., for rent, 

for sale, or for seasonal use only.ʺ The 2010 Census identified vacancy through an enumeration, 

separate from (but related to) the survey of households. Enumerators are obtained using 

information from property owners and managers, neighbors, rental agents, and others.  

According to the 2015‐2019 ACS 5‐year estimates, the vacancy rate in Millersburg was 0.3%, 

compared to 5.3% for Linn County and 8.9% for Oregon. 

   

83 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  17

4. Demographic and Other Factors Affecting 
Residential Development in Millersburg 

Demographic trends are important for a thorough understanding of the dynamics of the 

Millersburg housing market. Millersburg exists in a regional economy; trends in the region 

impact the local housing market. This chapter documents demographic, socioeconomic, and 

other trends relevant to Millersburg at the national, state, and regional levels. 

Demographic trends provide a context for growth in a region; factors such as age, income, 

migration, and other trends show how communities have grown and how they will shape 

future growth. To provide context, we compare Millersburg to Linn County and Oregon. We 

also compare Millersburg to nearby cities where appropriate. Characteristics such as age and 

ethnicity are indicators of how the population has grown in the past and provide insight into 

factors that may affect future growth. 

A recommended approach to conducting a Housing Capacity Analysis is described in Planning 

for Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon’s Urban Areas, the Department of Land 

Conservation and Development’s guidebook on local housing needs studies. As described in 

the workbook, the specific steps in the Housing Capacity Analysis are: 

1. Project the number of new housing units needed in the next 20 years. 

2. Identify relevant national, state, and local demographic and economic trends and factors 

that may affect the 20‐year projection of structure type mix.  

3. Describe the demographic characteristics of the population and, if possible, the housing 

trends that relate to demand for different types of housing. 

4. Determine the types of housing that are likely to be affordable to the projected 

households based on household income. 

5. Determine the needed housing mix and density ranges for each plan designation and the 

average needed net density for all structure types.  

6. Estimate the number of additional needed units by structure type. 

This chapter presents data to address steps 2, 3, and 4 in this list. Chapter 5 presents data to 

address steps 1, 5, and 6 in this list. 

   

84 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  18

Demographic and Socioeconomic Factors Affecting Housing 
Choice6 

Analysts typically describe housing demand as the preferences for different types of housing 

(e.g., single‐family detached or apartment) and the ability to pay for that housing (the ability to 

exercise those preferences in a housing market by purchasing or renting housing; in other 

words, income or wealth).  

Many demographic and socioeconomic variables affect housing choice. However, the literature 

about housing markets finds that age of the householder, size of the household, and income are 

most strongly correlated with housing choice. 

 Age of householder is the age of the person identified (in the Census) as the head of 

household. Households make different housing choices at different stages of life. This 

chapter discusses generational trends, such as housing preferences of Baby Boomers, 

people born from about 1946 to 1964, Millennials, people born from about 1980 to 2000, 

and Generation Z, people born after 1997. 

 Size of household is the number of people living in the household. Younger and older 

people are more likely to live in single‐person households. People in their middle years 

are more likely to live in multi‐person households (often with children). 

 Household income is probably the most important determinant of housing choice. 

Income is strongly related to the type of housing a household chooses (e.g., single‐family 

detached, duplex, or a building with more than five units) and to household tenure (e.g., 

rent or own).  

This chapter focuses on these factors, presenting data that suggests how changes to these factors 

may affect housing need in Millersburg over the next 20 years.  

   

 
6 The research in this chapter is based on numerous articles and sources of information about housing, including: 

D. Myers and S. Ryu, Aging Baby Boomers and the Generational Housing Bubble, Journal of the American 

Planning Association, Winter 2008. 

Davis, Hibbits, & Midghal Research, “Metro Residential Preference Survey,” May 2014. 

L. Lachman and D. Brett, Generation Y: America’s New Housing Wave, Urban Land Institute, 2010. 

George Galster. People Versus Place, People and Place, or More? New Directions for Housing Policy, 

Housing Policy Debate, 2017. 

Herbert, Christopher and Hrabchak Molinsky. “Meeting the Housing Needs of an Aging Population,” 2015.  

J. McIlwain, Housing in America: The New Decade, Urban Land Institute, 2010. 

Schuetz, Jenny. Who is the new face of American homeownership? Brookings, 2017. 

The American Planning Association, “Investing in Place; Two generations’ view on the future of 

communities,” 2014. 

Transportation for America, “Access to Public Transportation a Top Criterion for Millennials When 

Deciding Where to Live, New Survey Shows,” 2014.  

85 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  19

National Trends7 

This brief summary on national housing trends builds on previous work by ECONorthwest as 

well as Urban Land Institute (ULI) reports and conclusions from The State of the Nation’s Housing 

report from the Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University. The Harvard report 

(2020) summarizes the national housing outlook as follows: 

Given the profound impact of the pandemic on how US households live and work, 

there is plenty of reason to believe that it could bring meaningful changes to housing 

markets. With millions of people forced to work remotely, employers and employees 

alike may find this an attractive option even after the pandemic ends. If so, demand 

would likely increase for homes large enough to provide office space, as well as easy 

access to outdoor spaces to exercise and socialize. And if long commutes are no longer 

everyday requirements, many households may move to lower‐density areas where 

housing is less expensive. However, a major shift in residential development patterns 

is  far  from certain. What  is certain  is  that  the need  for more housing of all  types, 

locations,  and price points will persist.  In  the near  term,  the outlook  for housing 

markets is bright, fueled by very low interest rates as well as unabated demand from 

more affluent households. If the pandemic persists, however, it will remain a serious 

drag on the labor market and wage growth, and ultimately on household formations. 

Still, the pandemic’s negative  impact on markets should be relatively muted given 

historically tight conditions on the supply side.  

However, challenges to a strong domestic housing market remain. Rising mortgage rates, the 

tight credit market, and limited inventory of entry‐level homes make housing unaffordable for 

many Americans, especially younger Americans. In addition to rising housing costs, wages 

have also failed to keep pace, worsening affordability pressures. Single‐family and multifamily 

housing supplies remain tight, which compound affordability issues. The State of the Nation’s 

Housing report emphasizes the importance of government assistance and intervention to keep 

housing affordable moving forward. Several challenges and trends shaping the housing market 

are summarized below: 

 Bounce back in residential construction led by single‐family starts. New construction 

made a sharp comeback in summer 2020 led by single‐family construction. Single‐family 

starts in 2020 began at about a 900,000‐unit annual rate (the fastest pace since the Great 

Recession), before dipping to a below 700,000‐unit annual rate in April due to the 

COVID‐19 pandemic. Then, single‐family starts hit a 1.1‐million‐unit annual rate in 

September 2020—marking it as the strongest month for single‐family homebuilding in 

over 13 years. Multifamily unit starts also continued to climb, increasing by 7.5% from 

about 374,000 units in 2018 to about 402,000 units in 2019. Notably, 2019 marked the first 

 
7 These trends are based on information from (1) the Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University’s 

publication “The State of the Nation’s Housing 2020,” (2) Urban Land Institute, “2021 Emerging Trends in Real 

Estate,” and (3) the U.S. Census.  

86 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  20

year since 1988 that multifamily starts topped 400,000. In 2019, home sales averaged 3.9 

months which is below what is considered balanced (six months), with lower‐cost and 

moderate‐cost homes experiencing the tightest inventories. The State of the Nation’s 

Housing report cited lack of skilled labor, rising construction costs, land use regulations 

(particularly density restrictions), and development fees as constraints on new 

construction. 

 Demand shift from renting to owning. After years of decline, the national 

homeownership rate increased slightly from 64.4% in 2018 to 64.6% in 2019. Trends 

suggest the recent homeownership increases are among householders of all age groups; 

however, new growth in homeownership since the post‐Great Recession low of 2013 

resulted from households with higher incomes. About 88% of net new growth (2013 to 

2019) was among households with incomes of $150,000 or more.  

 Housing affordability. Despite a recent downward trend, 37.1 million American 

households spent more than 30% of their income on housing in 2019 which is 5.6 million 

more households than in 2001. Renter households experienced cost‐burden at more than 

double the rate of homeowners (46% versus 21%) with the number of cost‐burdened 

renters exceeding cost‐burdened homeowners by 3.7 million in 2019. Affordability 

challenges continued to move up the income ladder, with the share of cost‐burdened 

middle‐income households increasing slightly from 2018 to 2019 even as the share of 

low‐income households experiencing cost‐burden declined slightly over the same 

period. Households under the age of 25 and over the age of 85 had the highest rates of 

housing cost‐burden.  

 Long‐term growth and housing demand. The Joint Center for Housing Studies forecasts 

that, nationally, demand for new homes could total as many as 12 million units between 

2018 and 20288. Much of the demand will come from Baby Boomers, Millennials, 

Generation Z,9 and immigrants. The Urban Land Institute cites the trouble of 

overbuilding in the luxury sector while demand is in mid‐priced single‐family houses 

affordable to a larger buyer pool. 

 Growth in rehabilitation market.10 Aging housing stock and poor housing conditions 

are growing concerns for jurisdictions across the United States. With almost 80% of the 

nation’s housing stock at least 20 years old (and 40% at least 50 years old), Americans 

are spending in excess of $400 billion per year on residential renovations and repairs. As 

housing rehabilitation becomes the go‐to solution to address housing conditions, the 

 
8 The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University. The State of the Nation’s Housing 2020. 

9 According to the Pew Research Center, Millennials were born between the years of 1981 to 1996 and Generation Z 

were born between 1997 to 2012 (inclusive). Read more about generations and their definitions here: 

http://www.pewresearch.org/fact‐tank/2018/03/01/defining‐generations‐where‐millennials‐end‐and‐post‐millennials‐

begin/. 

10 These findings are copied from: Joint Center for Housing Studies. (2019). Improving America’s Housing, Harvard 

University. Retrieved from: 

https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Harvard_JCHS_Improving_Americas_Housing_2019.pdf 

87 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  21

home remodeling market has grown more than 50% since the recession ended—

generating 2.2% of national economic activity (in 2017). 

Despite trends suggesting growth in the rehabilitation market, rising construction costs 

and complex regulatory requirements pose barriers to rehabilitation. Lower‐income 

households or households on fixed incomes may defer maintenance for years due to 

limited financial means, thereby escalating rehabilitation costs. At a certain point, the 

cost of improvements may outweigh the value of the structure, which may necessitate 

new responses such as demolition or redevelopment. 

 Declining residential mobility.11 Residential mobility rates have declined steadily since 

1980. Nearly one in five Americans moved every year in the 1980s, compared to one in 

ten Americans between 2018 and 2019. While reasons for decline in residential mobility 

are uncertain, contributing factors include demographic, housing affordability, and 

labor‐related changes. For instance, as Baby Boomers and Millennials age, mobility rates 

are expected to fall as people typically move less as they age. Harvard University’s 

Research Brief (2020) also suggests that increasing housing costs could be preventing 

people from moving if they are priced out of desired neighborhoods or if they prefer to 

stay in current housing as prices rise around them. Other factors that may impact 

mobility include: the rise in dual‐income households (which complicates job‐related 

moves), the rise in work‐from‐home options, and the decline in company‐funded 

relocations. While decline in mobility rates span all generations, they are greatest among 

young adults and renters, two of the more traditionally mobile groups. 

 Changes in housing preference. Housing preference will be affected by changes in 

demographics, most notably: the aging of Baby Boomers, housing demand from 

Millennials and Generation Z, and growth of immigrants.  

 Baby Boomers. In 2020, the oldest members of this generation were in their seventies 

and the youngest were in their fifties. The continued aging of the Baby Boomer 

generation will affect the housing market. In particular, Baby Boomers will influence 

housing preference and homeownership trends. Preferences (and needs) will vary 

for Boomers moving through their 60s, 70s, and 80s (and beyond). They will require 

a range of housing opportunities. For example, “aging Baby Boomers are 

increasingly renters‐by‐choice, [preferring] walkable, high‐energy, culturally 

evolved communities.”12 Many seniors are also moving to planned retirement 

destinations earlier than expected as they experience the benefits of work‐from‐home 

trends (accelerated by COVID‐19). Additionally, the supply of caregivers is 

decreasing as people in this cohort move from giving care to needing care, making 

more inclusive, community‐based, congregate settings more important. Senior 

households earning different incomes may make distinctive housing choices. For 

instance, low‐income seniors may not have the financial resources to live out their 

 
11 Frost, R. (2020). “Are Americans stuck in place? Declining residential mobility in the US.” Joint Center for Housing 

Studies of Harvard University’s Research Brief. 

12 Urban Land Institute. Emerging Trends in Real Estate, United States and Canada. 2020. 

88 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  22

years in a nursing home and may instead choose to downsize to smaller, more 

affordable units. Seniors living in proximity to relatives may also choose to live in 

multigenerational households.  

Research shows that “older people in western countries prefer to live in their own 

familiar environment as long as possible,” but aging in place does not only mean 

growing old in their own homes.13 A broader definition exists, which explains that 

aging in place means “remaining in the current community and living in the 

residence of one’s choice.”14 Some Boomers are likely to stay in their home as long as 

they are able, and some will prefer to move into other housing products, such as 

multifamily housing or age‐restricted housing developments, before they move into 

to a dependent living facility or into a familial home. Moreover, “the aging of the 

U.S. population, [including] the continued growth in the percentage of single‐person 

households, and the demand for a wider range of housing choices in communities 

across the country is fueling interest in new forms of residential development, 

including tiny houses.”15 

 Millennials. Over the last several decades, young adults have increasingly lived in 

multigenerational housing—more so than older demographics.16 However, as 

Millennials move into their early to mid‐thirties, postponement of family formation 

is ending, and millennials are likely to prefer detached, single‐family homes in 

suburban areas. 

At the beginning of the 2007–2009 recession, Millennials only started forming their 

own households. Today, Millennials are driving much of the growth in new 

households, albeit at slower rates than previous generations. As this generation 

continues to progress into their homebuying years, they will seek out affordable, 

modest‐sized homes. This will prove challenging as the market for entry‐level, 

single‐family homes has remained stagnant. Although construction of smaller homes 

(< 1,800 sq. ft.) increased in 2019, they only represented 24% of single‐family units. 

Millennials’ average wealth may remain far below Boomers and Gen Xers, and 

student loan debt will continue to hinder consumer behavior and affect retirement 

savings. As of 2020, Millennials comprised 38% of home buyers, while Gen Xers 

comprised 23% and Boomers 33%.17 “By the year 2061, it is estimated that $59 trillion 

 
13 Vanleerberghe, Patricia, et al. (2017). The quality of life of older people aging in place: a literature review. 

14 Ibid. 

15 American Planning Association. Making Space for Tiny Houses, Quick Notes. 

16 According to the Pew Research Center, in 1980, just 11% of adults aged 25 to 34 lived in a multigenerational family 

household, and by 2008, 20% did (82% change). Comparatively, 17% of adults aged 65 and older lived in a 

multigenerational family household, and by 2008, 20% did (18% change). 
17 National Association of Realtors. (2020). 2020 Home Buyers and Sellers Generational Trends Report, March 2020. 

Retrieved from: https://www.nar.realtor/research‐and‐statistics/research‐reports/home‐buyer‐and‐seller‐

generational‐trends 

89 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  23

will be passed down from Boomers to their beneficiaries,” presenting new 

opportunities for Millennials (as well as Gen Xers).18  

 Generation Z. In 2020, the oldest members of Generation Z were in their early 20s and 

the youngest in their early childhood years. By 2040, Generation Z will be between 

20 and 40 years old. While they are more racially and ethnically diverse than 

previous generations, when it comes to key social and policy issues, they look very 

much like Millennials. Generation Z was set to inherit a strong economy and record‐

low unemployment.19 However, because the long‐term impacts of COVID‐19 are 

unknown, Generation Z may now be looking at an uncertain future.  

While researchers do not yet know how Generation Z will behave in adulthood, 

many expect they will follow patterns of previous generations. A segment is 

expected to move to urban areas for reasons similar to previous cohorts (namely, the 

benefits that employment, housing, and entertainment options bring when they are 

in close proximity). However, this cohort is smaller than Millennials (67 million vs. 

72 million) which may lead to slowing real estate demand in city centers.  

 Immigrants. Research on foreign‐born populations shows that immigrants, more than 

native‐born populations, prefer to live in multigenerational housing. Still, 

immigration and increased homeownership among minorities could also play a key 

role in accelerating household growth over the next 10 years. Current Population 

Survey estimates indicate that the number of foreign‐born households rose by nearly 

400,000 annually between 2001 and 2007, and they accounted for nearly 30% of 

overall household growth. Beginning in 2008, the influx of immigrants was 

staunched by the effects of the Great Recession. After a period of declines, the 

foreign‐born population again began contributing to household growth, despite 

decline in immigration rates in 2019. The Census Bureau’s estimates of net 

immigration in 2019 indicate that 595,000 immigrants moved to the United States 

from abroad, down from 1.2 million immigrants in 2017–2018. However, as noted in 

The State of the Nation’s Housing (2020) report, “because the majority of immigrants 

do not immediately form their own households upon arrival in the country, the drag 

on household growth from lower immigration only becomes apparent over time.”  

 Diversity. The growing diversity of American households will have a large impact on 

the domestic housing markets. Over the coming decade, minorities will make up a 

larger share of young households and constitute an important source of demand for 

both rental housing and small homes. The growing gap in homeownership rates 

between Whites and Blacks, as well as the larger share of minority households that 

are cost burdened warrants consideration. White households had a 73% 

 
18 PNC. (n.d.). Ready or Not, Here Comes the Great Wealth Transfer. Retrieved from: https://www.pnc.com/en/about‐

pnc/topics/pnc‐pov/economy/wealth‐transfer.html 

19 Parker, K. & Igielnik, R. (2020). On the cusp if adulthood and facing an uncertain future: what we know about gen 

Z so far. Pew Research Center. Retrieved from: https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/essay/on‐the‐cusp‐of‐adulthood‐

and‐facing‐an‐uncertain‐future‐what‐we‐know‐about‐gen‐z‐so‐far/ 

90 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  24

homeownership rate in 2019 compared to a 43% rate for Black households. This 30‐

percentage point gap is the largest disparity since 1983. Although homeownership 

rates are increasing for some minorities, Black and Hispanic households are more 

likely to have suffered disproportionate impacts of the pandemic and forced sales 

could negatively impact homeownership rates. This, combined with systemic 

discrimination in the housing and mortgage markets and lower incomes relative to 

White households, leads to higher rates of cost burden for minorities —43% for 

Blacks, 40% for Latino, 32% for Asians and 25% for Whites in 2019. As noted in The 

State of the Nation’s Housing (2020) report, “the impacts of the pandemic have shed 

light on the growing racial and income disparities in the nation; between the nation’s 

haves and have‐nots are the legacy of decades of discriminatory practices in the 

housing market and in the broader economy.”   

 Changes in housing characteristics. The U.S. Census Bureau’s Characteristics of New 

Housing Report (2019) presents data that show trends in the characteristics of new 

housing for the nation, state, and local areas. Several long‐term trends in the 

characteristics of housing are evident from the New Housing Report:20 

 Larger single‐family units on smaller lots. Between 1999 and 2019, the median size of 

new single‐family dwellings increased by 13% nationally, from 2,028 sq. ft. to 2,301 

sq. ft., and 14% in the western region from 2,001 sq. ft. in 1999 to 2,279 sq. ft in 2019. 

Moreover, the percentage of new units smaller than 1,400 sq. ft. nationally decreased 

by more than half, from 16% in 1999 to 7% in 2019. The percentage of units greater 

than 3,000 sq. ft. increased from 17% in 1999 to 25% of new one‐family homes 

completed in 2019. In addition to larger homes, a move toward smaller lot sizes was 

seen nationally. Between 2009 and 2019, the percentage of lots less than 7,000 sq. ft. 

increased from 25% to 33% of lots. 

Based on national study about homebuying preferences that differ by race/ethnicity, 

African American home buyers wanted a median unit size of 2,664 square feet, 

compared to 2,347 sq. ft. for Hispanic buyers, 2,280 sq. ft. for Asian buyers, and 2,197 

sq. ft. for White buyers.21 This same study found that minorities were less likely to 

want large lots.  

 Larger multifamily units. Between 1999 and 2019, the median size of new multifamily 

dwelling units increased by 3.4% nationally. In the western region, the median size 

decreased by 1.9%. Nationally, the percentage of new multifamily units with more 

than 1,200 sq. ft. increased from 28% in 1999 to 35% in 2019 and increased from 25% 

to 27% in the western region. 

 Household amenities. Across the United States since 2013, an increasing number of 

new units had air‐conditioning (fluctuating year by year at over 90% for both new 

 
20 U.S. Census Bureau, Highlights of Annual 2019 Characteristics of New Housing. Retrieved from: 

https://www.census.gov/construction/chars/highlights.html 

21 Quint, Rose. (April 2014). What Home Buyers Really Want: Ethnic Preferences. National Association of Home Builders. 

91 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  25

single‐family and multifamily units). In 2000, 93% of new single‐family houses had 

two or more bathrooms, compared to 96% in 2019. The share of new multifamily 

units with two or more bathrooms decreased from 55% of new multifamily units to 

45%. As of 2019, 92% of new single‐family houses in the United States had garages 

for one or more vehicles (from 89% in 2000). Additionally, if work from home 

dynamics become a more permanent option, then there may be rising demand for 

different housing amenities such as more space for home offices or larger yards for 

recreation.  

 Shared amenities. Housing with shared amenities grew in popularity, as it may 

improve space efficiencies and reduce per‐unit costs/maintenance costs. Single‐room 

occupancies (SROs), 22 cottage clusters, cohousing developments, and multifamily 

products are common housing types that take advantage of this trend. Shared 

amenities may take many forms and include shared bathrooms, kitchens, other 

home appliances (e.g., laundry facilities, outdoor grills), security systems, outdoor 

areas (e.g., green spaces, pathways, gardens, rooftop lounges), fitness rooms, 

swimming pools, tennis courts, and free parking.23  

State Trends 

In August 2019, the State of Oregon passed statewide legislation ‐‐ Oregon House Bill 2001 and 

2003. House Bill 2001 (HB2001) required many Oregon communities to accommodate middle 

housing within single‐family neighborhoods. “Medium Cities”—those with 10,000 to 25,000 

residents outside the Portland metro area—are required to allow duplexes on each lot or parcel 

where a single‐family home is allowed. “Large Cities”—those with 

over 25,000 residents and nearly all jurisdictions in the Portland 

metro urban growth boundary (UGB)—must meet the same duplex 

requirement as well as allow triplexes, fourplexes, townhomes, and 

cottage clusters in all areas that are zoned for residential use and 

allow single‐family homes. Note that the middle housing types (other 

than duplexes) do not have to be allowed on every lot or parcel that 

allows single‐family homes, which means that larger cities maintain 

some discretion. 

House Bill 2003 (HB2003) envisions Oregon’s housing planning system is reformed from a 

singular focus (on ensuring adequate available land) to a more comprehensive approach that 

also achieves these critical goals: (1) support and enable the construction of sufficient units to 

 
22 Single‐room occupancies are residential properties with multiple single‐room dwelling units occupied by a single 

individual. From: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (2001). Understanding SRO. Retrieved from: 

https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Understanding‐SRO.pdf 

23 Urbsworks. (n.d.). Housing Choices Guidebook: A Visual Guide to Compact Housing Types in Northwest Oregon. 

Retrieved from: https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/Publications/Housing‐Choices‐Booklet_DIGITAL.pdf 

Saiz, Albert and Salazar, Arianna. (n.d.). Real Trends: The Future of Real Estate in the United States. Center for Real 

Estate, Urban Economics Lab. 

Middle housing is 
generally built at a similar 
scale as single-family 
homes but at higher 
residential densities. It 
provides a range of 
housing choices at 
different price points 
within a community. 

92 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  26

accommodate current populations and projected household growth and (2) reduce geographic 

disparities in access to housing (especially affordable and publicly supported housing). In that, 

HB 2003 required the development of a methodology for projecting regional housing need and 

allocate that need to local jurisdictions. It also expanded local government responsibilities for 

planning to meet housing need by requiring cities to develop and adopt Housing Production 

Strategies. 

Prior to the passage of these bills, Oregon developed its 2016–2020 Consolidated Plan which 

includes a detailed housing needs analysis as well as strategies for addressing housing needs 

statewide. The plan concluded that “a growing gap between the number of Oregonians who 

need affordable housing, and the availability of affordable homes has given rise to destabilizing 

rent increases, an alarming number of evictions of low‐ and fixed‐ income people, increasing 

homelessness, and serious housing instability throughout Oregon.” It identified the following 

issues that describe housing need statewide:24 

 For housing to be considered affordable, a household should pay up to one‐third of their 

income toward rent, leaving money left over for food, utilities, transportation, medicine, 

and other basic necessities. Today, one in two Oregon households pays more than one‐

third of their income toward rent, and one in three pays more than half of their income 

toward rent.  

 More school children are experiencing housing instability and homelessness. The rate of 

K–12 homeless children increased by 12% from the 2013–2014 school year to the 2014–

2015 school year. 

 Oregon has 28,500 rental units that are affordable and available to renters with 

extremely low incomes. There are about 131,000 households that need those apartments, 

leaving a gap of 102,500 units. 

 Housing instability is fueled by an unsteady, low‐opportunity employment market. 

Over 400,000 Oregonians are employed in low‐wage work. Low‐wage work is a growing 

share of Oregon’s economy. When wages are set far below the cost needed to raise a 

family, the demand for public services grows to record heights.  

 Women are more likely than men to end up in low‐wage jobs. Low wages, irregular 

hours, and part‐time work compound issues.  

 People of color historically constitute a disproportionate share of the low‐wage work 

force. About 45% of Latino, and 50% of African Americans, are employed in low‐wage 

industries. 

 The majority of low‐wage workers are adults over the age of 20, many of whom have 

earned a college degree, or some level of higher education. 

 
24 These conclusions are copied directly from the report: Oregon’s 2016–2020 Consolidated Plan. Retrieved from: 

http://www.oregon.gov/ohcs/docs/Consolidated‐Plan/2016‐2020‐Consolidated‐Plan‐Amendment.pdf.  

93 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  27

 In 2019, minimum wage in Oregon25 was $11.25, compared to $12.50 in the Portland 

Metro, and $11.00 for nonurban counties.  

Oregon developed its Statewide Housing Plan in 2018. The Plan identified six housing priorities 

to address in communities across the State over the 2019 to 2023 period (summarized below). In 

August 2020, Oregon Housing and Community Services (OHCS) released a summary of their 

progress.26 The following section includes summaries and excerpts from their status report:  

 Equity and Racial Justice. Advance equity and racial justice by identifying and addressing 

institutional and systemic barriers that have created and perpetuated patterns of disparity in 

housing and economic prosperity. 

OHCS built internal organizational capacity through staff trainings on Equity and Racial 

Justice (ERJ) and hired an Equity, Diversity and Inclusion Manager. OHCS established a 

workgroup to support equity in their data system and approved an internal 

organizational structure to advance and support ERJ within all areas of OHCS. Now, 

OHCS is developing funding mechanisms to encourage culturally specific organizations 

to increase services to underserved communities and to increase the number and dollar 

amounts of contracts awarded to minority, women, and emerging small businesses 

(MWESBs).  

 Homelessness. Build a coordinated and concerted statewide effort to prevent and end 

homelessness, with a focus on ending unsheltered homelessness of Oregon’s children and 

veterans.  

The Homeless Services Section (HSS) made progress in building a foundation for 

planning and engagement across intersecting economic, social, and health systems. The 

OHCS Veteran Leadership team established recurring information‐sharing sessions with 

federal, state, and local partners. HSS convened Oregon Homeless Management 

Information System (HMIS) stakeholders to build recommendations and co‐construct a 

path toward a new HMIS implementation and data warehouse. HSS established 

successful workflows to analyze demographic data of people entering/exiting the 

homeless service system. 

 Permanent Supportive Housing. Invest in permanent supportive housing (PSH), a proven 

strategy to reduce chronic homelessness and reduce barriers to housing stability. 

OHCS funded 405 of their 1,000 PSH‐unit targets. Almost half of these units were the 

result of the NOFA tied to the first PSH Institute cohort. 

 
25 The 2016 Oregon Legislature, Senate Bill 1532, established a series of annual minimum wage rate increases 

beginning July 1, 2016, through July 1, 2022. Retrieved from: 

https://www.oregon.gov/boli/whd/omw/pages/minimum‐wage‐rate‐summary.aspx 

26 This section uses many direct excerpts from the OHCS Statewide Housing Plan Year One Summary August 2020 

Report to HSC. Oregon Statewide Housing Plan, Status Reports. 

https://www.oregon.gov/ohcs/Documents/swhp/SWHP‐Report‐Y1‐Summary.pdf 

94 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  28

 Affordable Rental Housing. Work to close the affordable rental housing gap and reduce 

housing cost burden for low‐income Oregonians. 

OHCS implemented a new electronic application and widespread adoption of system 

work modules. They also established a capacity building team to assess and recommend 

opportunities for growth in their development priorities and began training and 

technical assistance to potential PSH and rural developers. OHCS increased their units 

by 8,408 representing 22.8% of their 25,000 unit 5‐year target. 

 Homeownership. Provide more low‐ and moderate‐income Oregonians with the tools to 

successfully achieve and maintain homeownership, particularly in communities of color. 

OHCS pursued a strategy to align programs with the needs of communities of color, 

improved their Homeownership Center framework and Down Payment Assistance 

product, began developing their TBA program, and focused on low‐cost 

homeownership through manufactured housing. Additionally, they began developing 

the Restore Health and Safety program and re‐opening the Oregon Homeownership 

Stabilization Initiative (OHSI) program. OHCS also supported the Joint Task Force on 

Racial Equity in Homeownership and advocated for additional funds to support 

communities of color.  OHCS provided 678 mortgage lending products of their 6,500 5‐

Year goal with 170 going to households of color.  

 Rural Communities. Change the way OHCS does business in small towns and rural 

communities to be responsive to the unique housing and service needs and unlock the 

opportunities for housing development.  

OHCS focused on developing a better understanding of rural community needs and 

increasing rural capacity to build more affordable housing. OHCS hired a full‐time 

capacity building analyst who has conducted outreach to key stakeholders across the 

state representing rural communities and developed a strategy to address those needs. 

OHCS has funded 532 units in rural communities, out of a total of 2,543 units in the 5‐

year goal (21% of target).  

   

95 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  29

Regional and Local Demographic Trends May Affect Housing Need in Millersburg 

Demographic trends that might affect the key assumptions used in the baseline analysis of 

housing need are (1) the aging population, (2) changes in household size and composition, and 

(3) increases in diversity. 

An individual’s housing needs change throughout their life, with changes in income, family 

composition, and age. The types of housing needed by a 20‐year‐old college student differ from 

the needs of a 40‐year‐old parent with children, or an 80‐year‐old single adult. As Millersburg’s 

population ages, different types of housing will be needed to accommodate older residents. The 

housing characteristics by age data below reveal this cycle in action in Millersburg. 

Housing needs and 
preferences change in 
predictable ways over 
time, such as with 
changes in marital status 
and size of family. 
Families of different sizes 
need different types of 
housing. 

Exhibit 12. Effect of Demographic Changes on Housing Need 
Source: ECONorthwest, adapted from Clark, William A.V. and Frans M. Dieleman. 
1996. Households and Housing. New Brunswick, NJ: Center for Urban Policy 
Research. 

 

   

96 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  30

Growing Population 

Millersburg’s population growth will drive future demand for housing in the city over the 

planning period. The population (within the city limits) forecast in Exhibit 14 is Millersburg’s 

official population forecast, from the Oregon Population Forecast Program. Millersburg must 

use this forecast as the basis for forecasting housing growth over the 2021 to 2041 period. 

Exhibit 13 shows that Millersburg’s population grew by 338% between 2000 and 2020. 

Millersburg added 2,199 new residents, at an average annual growth rate of 7.7%. 

Exhibit 13. Population, Millersburg (city limits), Linn County, Oregon, and the U.S., 2000-2020 
Source: U.S. Decennial Census 2000 and 2010; Portland State University, Population Research Center, 2020. 

 

Millersburg’s population 
within its urban growth 
boundary is projected to 
grow by over 1,900 people 
between 2021 and 2041, 
at an average annual 
growth rate of 2.6%.27 

Exhibit 14. Forecast of Population Growth, Millersburg UGB,  
2021 to 2041 
Source: Oregon Population Forecast Program, Portland State University, 
Population Research Center, June 2021. 

2,937 4,883 1,946 66% 
increase  

Residents in 
2021 

Residents in 
2041 

New residents 
2021 to 2041 

2.6% AAGR 

 

   

 
27 This forecast of population growth is based on the Millersburg UGB official population forecast from the Oregon 

Population Forecast Program. ECONorthwest extrapolated the population forecast for 2020 (to 2021) and 2041 (to 

2041) based on the methodology specified in the following file (from the Oregon Population Forecast Program 

website): https://www.pdx.edu/population‐research/population‐forecasts 

2000 2010 2020 Number Percent AAGR
U.S. 281,421,906 308,745,538 329,484,123 48,062,217 17% 0.8%
Oregon 3,421,399 3,831,074 4,268,055 846,656 25% 1.1%
Linn County 103,069 116,672 127,320 24,251 24% 1.1%
Millersburg 651 1,329 2,850 2,199 338% 7.7%

Change 2000 to 2020

97 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  31

Aging Population 

This section shows two key characteristics of Millersburg’s population, with implications for 

future housing demand in Millersburg: 

 Seniors. Millersburg currently has a smaller share of people over 60 years old than Linn 

County. As Millersburg’s senior population grows, it will have increasing demand for 

housing that is suitable for elderly residents. 

Demand for housing for seniors will grow over the planning period, as the Baby 

Boomers continue to age and retire. The Linn County forecast share of residents aged 60 

years and older will account for 29% of its population (2041), compared to around 27% 

in 2021. 

The impact of growth in seniors in Millersburg will depend, in part, on whether older 

people already living in Millersburg continue to reside there as they retire. National 

surveys show that, in general, most retirees prefer to age in place by continuing to live in 

their current home and community as long as possible.28 Millersburg may be attractive 

to newly retiring seniors because of its location within the Central Willamette Valley and 

its recreational amenities, combined with lower‐cost housing than Bend. 

Growth in the number of seniors will result in demand for housing types specific to 

seniors, such as small and easy‐to‐maintain dwellings, assisted living facilities, or 

age‐restricted developments. Senior households will make a variety of housing choices, 

including remaining in their homes as long as they are able, downsizing to smaller 

single‐family homes (detached and attached) or multifamily units, or moving into group 

housing (such as assisted living facilities or nursing homes), as their health declines. The 

challenges aging seniors face in continuing to live in their community include changes in 

healthcare needs, loss of mobility, the difficulty of home maintenance, financial 

concerns, and increases in property taxes.29 

 Millersburg currently has a larger proportion of younger people than Linn County 

and Oregon. About 29% of Millersburg’s population is under 20 years old, compared to 

25% of Linn County’s population and Oregon’s average of 23%. The forecast for 

population growth in Linn County shows the percent of people under 20 years old 

decreasing from 24% of the population in 2021 to 21% of the population by 2041. 

People currently aged 25 to 40 are referred to as the Millennial generation and account 

for the largest share of population in Oregon. By 2041, they will be about 45 to 60 years 

of age. The forecast for Linn County shows a slight shift in Millennials from about 20% 

of the population in 2021 to about 21% of the population in 2041. 

 
28 A survey conducted by the AARP indicates that 90% of people 50 years and older want to stay in their current 

home and community as they age. See http://www.aarp.org/research. 

29 “Aging in Place: A toolkit for Local Governments” by M. Scott Ball.  

98 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  32

Millersburg’s ability to attract people in this age group will depend, in large part, on 

whether the city has opportunities for housing that both appeals to and is affordable to 

Millennials, as well as jobs that allow younger people to live and work in Millersburg.   

In the near‐term, Millennials may increase demand for rental units. The long‐term 

housing preference of Millennials is uncertain. Research suggests that Millennials’ 

housing preferences may be similar to the Baby Boomers, with a preference for smaller, 

less costly units. Recent surveys about housing preference suggest that Millennials want 

affordable single‐family homes in areas that offer transportation alternatives to cars, 

such as suburbs or small cities with walkable neighborhoods.30 

A recent survey of people living in the Portland region shows that Millennials prefer 

single‐family detached housing. The survey finds that housing price is the most 

important factor in choosing housing for younger residents.31 The survey results suggest 

Millennials are more likely than other groups to prefer housing in an urban 

neighborhood or town center. While this survey is for the Portland region, it shows 

similar results to national surveys and studies about housing preference for Millennials. 

Growth in Millennials in Millersburg will result in increased demand for both affordable 

single‐family detached housing (such as small single‐family detached units like 

cottages), as well as increased demand for affordable townhouses and multifamily 

housing. Growth in this population will result in increased demand for both ownership 

and rental opportunities, with an emphasis on housing that is comparatively affordable. 

There is potential for attracting new residents to housing in Millersburg’s commercial 

areas, especially if the housing is relatively affordable and located in proximity to 

services. 

 
30 The American Planning Association, “Investing in Place; Two generations’ view on the future of communities.” 

2014.  

“Access to Public Transportation a Top Criterion for Millennials When Deciding Where to Live, New Survey Shows,” 

Transportation for America.  

“Survey Says: Home Trends and Buyer Preferences,” National Association of Home Builders International Builders  

31 Davis, Hibbits, & Midghal Research, “Metro Residential Preference Survey,” May 2014. 

99 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  33

From 2000 to 2015-2019, 
Millersburg’s median age 
increased from 37.2 to 
39.1 years. 

Exhibit 15. Median Age, Millersburg, Linn County, and Oregon, 2000 
to 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census Table B01002, 2015-2019 
ACS, Table B01002. 

 

In the 2015-2019 period, 
about 51% of Millersburg’s 
residents were between the 
ages of 20 and 59 years. 
Millersburg has a smaller 
share of people over the 
age of 60 than the county 
and state. 

29% of Millersburg’s 
population is under 20 
years old, compared to 25% 
of Linn County’s population 
and 23% of Oregon’s. 

Exhibit 16. Population Distribution by Age, Millersburg, Linn County, 
and Oregon, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS, Table B01001. 

 

37.2 37.4 36.3
39.1 39.6 39.3

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

2000 2015-2019

29%

23%

28%

19%

25%
26%

24% 25%
23%

28%

25%
24%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Under 20 20 to 39 40 to 59 60 Years +

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

100 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  34

Between 2000 and 2015-
2019, all age groups in 
Millersburg grew in size. 
The largest percent 
increase in residents were 
those aged 60 and older at 
about 285 people (277%), 
followed by those 20 and 
younger at about 414 
people (241%). 

Exhibit 17. Population Growth by Age, Millersburg, 2000 to 2015-
2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census Table P012 and 2015-2019 
ACS, Table B01001. 

 

By 2041, Linn County’s 
population between the 
ages of 40 and 59 years 
is forecast to grow 30%. 
There is an expected 
population increase of 
23% for people 60 years 
and older between 2021 
and 2041. 

Exhibit 18. Fastest-growing Age Groups, Linn County, 2021 to 
2041 
Source: PSU Population Research Center, Linn County Forecast, June 2021. 

-4%  
-1,273 
People 

5%  
1,546 
People 

30%  
9,227 
People 

23%  
7,999 
People 

Under 20 20-39 Yrs 40-59 Yrs 60+ Yrs 
 

172 181 195

103

586

466

558

388

0

200

400

600

800

Under 20 20-39 40-59 60+

2000 2015-2019

101 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  35

By 2041, it is forecasted 
that Linn County residents 
over the age of 40 will 
make up 56% of the 
county’s total population. 
This accounts for a 6-
percentage point increase 
from the county’s 2021 
age group estimate. 

Exhibit 19. Population Growth by Age Group, Linn County, 2021 and 
2041 
Source: PSU Population Research Center, Linn County Forecast, June 2021. 

 

   

24% 25%
24%

27%

21%

23%

27%
29%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Under 20 20 to 39 40 to 59 60+

2021 2041

102 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  36

Increased Ethnic Diversity 

The number of Hispanic or Latino residents increased in Millersburg, by 160 people, from 2000 

to the 2015‐2019 period. The U.S. Census Bureau forecasts that at the national level, the 

Hispanic or Latino population will continue growing faster than most other non‐Hispanic or 

Latino populations between 2020 and 2040. The Census forecasts that the Hispanic or Latino 

population will increase 93%, from 2016 to 2060, and foreign‐born Hispanic or Latino 

populations will increase by about 40% in that same time.32 

Continued growth in the Hispanic or Latino population will affect Millersburg’s housing needs 

in a variety of ways. Growth in first and, to a lesser extent, second and third generation 

Hispanic or Latino immigrants, will increase demand for larger dwelling units to accommodate 

the, on average, larger household sizes for these households. In that, Hispanic or Latino 

households are twice likely to include multiple generations households than the general 

populace.33 In third and later generations of Hispanic or Latino immigrant households, size 

typically decreases, and housing needs become similar to overall housing needs for households 

within the community, as well as a need for affordable rental units. 

According to the State of Hispanic Homeownership report from the National Association of 

Hispanic Real Estate Professionals:34 the Hispanic or Latino population accounted for 35.9% of 

the nation’s new households between 2010 to 2020. The rate of homeownership for Hispanic or 

Latino households increased from 45.4% in 2014 to 48‐49% in 2020.35 In that time, Hispanic or 

Latino households were the only demographic that increased their rate of homeownership for 

each of the past six years. 

 
32 U.S. Census Bureau, Demographic Turning Points for the United States: Population Projections for 2020 to 2060. 

33 Pew Research Center. (2013). Second‐Generation Americans: A Portrait of the Adult Children of Immigrants.  

34 National Association of Hispanic Real Estate Professionals (2020). 2019 State of Hispanic Homeownership Report. 

35 As noted in the State of Hispanic Homeownership Report, in 2020 Census homeownership rate data was compromised 

as changes in methodology and a significantly lower number of responses resulted in unusually higher 

homeownership rates across all demographics as renters were less likely to answer the survey than homeowners. The 

range predicted by NAHREP is consistent with the trend line of the past decade, and within the range predicted by 

the Urban Institute. 

103 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  37

The share of Millersburg’s 
households that identified 
as Hispanic or Latino 
increased between 2000 
and 2015-2019. 
Millersburg was as ethnically 
diverse as Linn County and 
less ethnically diverse than 
the state in the 2015-2019 
period. 

Exhibit 20. Hispanic or Latino Population as a Percent of the Total 
Population, Millersburg, Linn County, Oregon, 2000 and 2015-
2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census Table P008; 2015–2019 
ACS Table B03002. 

 

Racial Diversity 

In the 2015-2019 period, 
Millersburg was less racially 
diverse than Linn County 
and Oregon. 

Exhibit 21. Population by Race as a Percent of Total Population, 
Millersburg, Linn County, Oregon, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS Table B02001. 

*Note: Categories of race comprising less than one percent of the population are 
included in “Some other race alone.” 

Race Millersburg Linn County Oregon 

White Alone 91% 90% 84% 

Two or More Races 3% 5% 5% 

* Some Other Race Alone 2% 3% 3% 

Asian Alone 4% 1% 4% 
Black or African American 
Alone * * 2% 
American Indian and Alaska 
Native Alone * 1% 1% 

Native Hawaiian and Other 
Pacific Islander Alone * * * 

 

   

3%

4%

8%
9% 9%

13%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

Sh
ar

e 
of

 L
at

in
x 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s

2000 2015-2019

104 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  38

Household Size and Composition 

Millersburg’s household composition shows that households in the city tend to have more 

occupants than Linn County and statewide averages. On average, Millersburg’s households are 

larger than Linn County and Oregon households.   

The average household 
size in Millersburg is larger 
than Linn County and the 
state. 

Exhibit 22. Average Household Size, Millersburg, Linn County, 
Oregon, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimate, Table B25010. 

2.71 Persons 
Millersburg 

2.59 Persons 
Linn County 

2.51 Persons 
Oregon 

 

Millersburg has a smaller 
share of one-person 
households compared to 
the county and state, but a 
larger share of both 2- and 
3-or-more person 
households. 

Exhibit 23. Household Size, Millersburg, Linn County, Oregon, 2015-
2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimate, Table B25010. 

 

15%
25% 28%

41%

38% 37%

44%
37% 35%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

1 person 2 persons 3 or more

105 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  39

Millersburg has a slightly 
smaller share of households 
with children than Linn 
County but a slightly larger 
share than the state. 
About 25% of Millersburg 
households have children, 
compared with 33% of Linn 
County households and 19% 
of Oregon households.  

Exhibit 24. Household Composition, Millersburg, Linn County, 
Oregon, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimate, Table DP02. 
 

 

   

19%

33%
25%

53%
31%47%

28%
36%

28%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

OregonLinn CountyMillersburg

Pe
rc

en
t o

f H
ou

se
ho

ld
s

Nonfamily households

Family households without children

Family Households with children

106 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  40

Income of Millersburg Residents 
Income is one of the key determinants in housing choice and households’ ability to afford 

housing. Income for residents living in Millersburg is higher than the Linn County and Oregon 

median household income. 

Over the 2015-2019 
period, Millersburg’s 
median household income 
(MHI) was above that of 
the county, state, and 
comparison cities. 
Over this period, 
Millersburg’s MHI was 
$89,286, about 60% above 
Linn County’s MHI of 
$55,893, and about 42% 
above Oregon’s MHI of 
$62,818. 

Exhibit 25. Median Household Income, Millersburg, Linn County, 
Oregon, and Comparison Cities, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimate, Table B25119. 

 

 

$45,642

$52,942

$55,893

$60,624

$62,818

$64,500

$89,286

$0 $25,000 $50,000 $75,000 $100,000

Lebanon

Corvallis

Linn County

Albany

Oregon

Tangent

Millersburg

107 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  41

Millersburg has a lower 
percent share of 
households earning less 
than $50,000 compared to 
the county or state. 
For the 2015-2019 period, 
about 19% of Millersburg 
households made less than 
$50,000 per year, 
compared to 45% of Linn 
County households, and 
40% of Oregon households. 

About 65% of Millersburg 
households brought in 
more than $75,000 
annually, compared to 35% 
for Linn County and 42% 
for Oregon. 

Exhibit 26. Household Income, Millersburg, Linn County, Oregon, 
2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimates, Table B19001. 

 

After adjusting for 
inflation, Millersburg’s 
median household income 
(MHI) increased by 56% 
from 2000 to 2015-2019, 
from $57,162 to $89,286 
per year. 
Over the same period, Linn 
County’s median household 
income decreased by 3%, 
and Oregon’s increased by 
0.3%. 

Exhibit 27. Change in Median Household Income, Millersburg, Linn 
County, Oregon, 2000 to 2015-2019, 2019 Inflation-adjusted 
Dollars 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census, Table HCT012; 2015-2019 
ACS 5-year estimate, Table B25119. 

 

   

8%
11%

15%

20%

45%

20%

25%

20%

14%

21%
18%

22%

18%

13%

28%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

< $25K $25K - $49K $50K - $74K $75K - $99K $100K +

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

$57,162 $57,425 
$62,637 

$89,286 

$55,893 
$62,818 

$0

$20,000

$40,000

$60,000

$80,000

$100,000

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

2000 2015-2019

108 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  42

Commuting Trends 

Millersburg is part of the complex, interconnected economy of the Mid‐Willamette Valley 

region. Of the more than 2,050 people who worked in Millersburg in 2018, 99% of workers 

commuted into the city from other surrounding areas, most notably Albany, Lebanon, Salem, 

and Corvallis. More than 650 residents of Millersburg commuted out of the city for work, many 

of them to Albany, Salem, and Corvallis.  

Millersburg is centrally 
located within the 
interconnected, regional 
economy of the Mid-
Willamette Valley. 
Millersburg is within a 30-
minute drive of Albany, 
Salem, Corvallis, and 
Lebanon. More than 2,000 
people commute into 
Millersburg for work, and 
more than 650 people living 
in Millersburg commute out 
of the city for work. 

Exhibit 28. Commuting Flows, Millersburg, 2018 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Census On the Map. 

 

About 1% of people who 
work at businesses 
located in Millersburg also 
live in Millersburg. 
The remainder commute 
from Albany and other 
parts of the Mid-
Willamette Valley region. 

Exhibit 29. Places Where Workers at Businesses in Millersburg 
Lived, 2018 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Census On the Map. 

27% 
Albany 

7% 
Lebanon 

4% 
Salem 

4% 
Corvallis 

1% 
Millersburg 

61% 
All Other 
Cities 

 

About 53% of Millersburg 
residents work in either 
Albany, Salem, or 
Corvallis. 
About 3% of residents live 
and work within city limits. 

Exhibit 30. Places Where Millersburg Residents were Employed, 
2018 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Census On the Map. 

26% 
Albany 

15% 
Salem 

12% 
Corvallis 

3% 
Millersburg 

3% 
Lebanon 

41% 
All Other 
Cities 

 

109 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  43

About half of Millersburg 
residents have a commute 
time that takes between 15 
to 29 minutes. 

Exhibit 31. Commute Time by Place of Residence, Millersburg, Linn 
County, Oregon, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimate, Table B08303. 

 

   

28%

50%

18%

2% 3%

37%

32%

18%

7% 6%

31%

37%

19%

7% 6%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Less than 15 15 to 29 30 to 44 45 to 59 60 or more

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

110 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  44

Populations with Special Needs 

The following section presents information about people with special housing needs, including 

people experiencing homelessness and people with disabilities. 

People Experiencing Homelessness 

Gathering reliable data from individuals experiencing homelessness is difficult precisely 

because they are unstably housed. People can cycle in an out of homelessness and move around 

communities and shelters. Moreover, the definition of homelessness can vary between 

communities. Individuals and families temporarily living with relatives or friends are 

insecurely housed, but they are often neglected from homelessness data. Even if an individual is 

identified as lacking sufficient housing, they may be reluctant to share information. As a result, 

information about people experiencing homelessness in Millersburg is not readily available.  

This section presents information about people experiencing homelessness in Linn County 

based on the following sources of information:  

 Point‐in‐Time (PIT) count: The PIT count is a snapshot of individuals experiencing 

homelessness on a single night in a community. It records the number and 

characteristics (e.g., race, age, veteran status) of people who live in emergency shelters, 

transitional housing, rapid re‐housing, Safe Havens, or PSH; as well as recording those 

who are unsheltered. HUD requires that communities and Continuums of Care (CoC) 

perform the PIT count during the last ten days of January on an annual basis for 

sheltered people and on a biennial basis for unsheltered people. Though the PIT count is 

not a comprehensive survey, it serves as a measure of homelessness at a given point of 

time and is used for policy and funding decisions. 

 McKinney Vento data: The McKinney Vento Homeless Assistance Act authorized, 

among other programs, the Education for Homeless Children and Youth (EHCY) 

Program to support the academic progress of children and youths experiencing 

homelessness. The U.S. Department of Education works with state coordinators and 

local liaisons to collect performance data on students experiencing homelessness. The 

data records the number of school‐aged children who live in shelters or hotels/motels 

and those who are doubled up, unsheltered, or unaccompanied. This is a broader 

definition of homelessness than that used in the PIT.  

Although these sources of information are known to undercount people experiencing homeless, 

they are consistently available for counties in Oregon.  

Linn County’s Point-in-
Time Homeless count 
increased by 105% from 
2017 to 2019.  

Exhibit 32. Number of Persons Experiencing Homelessness, Linn 
County, Point-in-Time Count, 2017 and 2019 
Source: Oregon Housing and Community Services. 

135 Persons 
2017 

277 Persons 
2019 

 

111 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  45

Between 2015 and 2019, 
the population of individuals 
who experienced sheltered 
homelessness increased by 
26%, or about 40 people. 
In the same time period, the 
number of people 
experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness in Linn 
County decreased by 27%, 
or about 30 people.  

Exhibit 33. Number of Persons Homeless by Living Situation, Linn 
County, Point-in-Time Count, 2015, 2017, and 2019 
Source: Oregon Housing and Community Services. 

 

The number of homeless 
students in the Greater 
Albany Public School 
District decreased by 6% 
(19 students) between the 
2018-19 and 2019-20 
school years.  
 

Exhibit 34. Number of Students Homeless by Living Situation, 
Greater Albany Public School District, 2018-2019 and 2019-2020 
Source: McKinney Vento, 2018-19 and 2019-20 Homeless Student Data. 

 
 

   

154 
68 

194 

113 
67 

83 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2015 2017 2019

Sheltered Unsheltered

189 212 

61 37 

37 20 

9 
8 

 -

 50

 100

 150

 200

 250

 300

 350

2018-19 2019-20

Doubled-Up In Shelter Unsheltered Motel/Hotel

112 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  46

People with Disabilities 

Exhibit 35 presents data on the share of individuals living with disabilities in Linn County and 

Oregon. Persons with disabilities often require special housing accommodations such as single‐

story homes or ground floor dwelling units, unit entrances with no steps, wheel in showers, 

widened doorways, and other accessibility features. Limited supply of these housing options 

poses additional barriers to housing access for these groups. 

Linn County has a higher 
share of persons living with 
a disability than the state. 
Linn County had a total of 
24,936 residents with one 
or more disabilities, 
accounting for 19% of the 
county’s total population in 
2019. The most common 
disabilities were ambulatory 
and cognitive difficulties. 

Exhibit 35.  Persons Living with a Disability by Type and as a 
Percentage of Total Population, Linn County and Oregon, 2019 
Source: US Census Bureau 2019 ACS 1-year supplemental estimates, Table 
K201803. 

 

   

5%

2%

6%

7%

3%

5%

6%

4%

7%

9%

3%

6%

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10%

Hearing Difficulty

Vision Difficulty

Cognitive Difficulty

Ambulatory Difficulty

Self-Care Difficulty

Independent Living Difficulty

Linn County Oregon

113 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  47

Regional and Local Trends Affecting Affordability in Millersburg 

This section describes changes in sales prices, rents, and housing affordability in Millersburg 

since 2000. It uses cities and submarkets in the Mid‐Willamette Valley region, as well as Linn 

County and Oregon, as comparisons. 

Changes in Housing Costs 

With a median sales price of $414,375 Millersburg’s housing sales were generally higher than 

other Mid‐Willamette Valley submarkets. Millersburg’s housing prices were below prices in 

Tangent and above Corvallis, Albany, Lebanon, and Linn County (2016‐2020). Over that period, 

Millersburg’s housing prices grew by 33% or $101,919. 

Millersburg’s median 
home sales price was 
lower than Tangent but 
greater than Corvallis, 
Albany, and Lebanon. 

Exhibit 36. Median Home Sale Price, Millersburg Area and 
Comparison Cities, 2020 
Source: Redfin. 

$438K $414K $413K $326K $274K 
Tangent Millersburg Corvallis Albany Lebanon 

 

Although sale prices were 
generally higher, between 
2016 and 2020, home 
sales prices in Millersburg 
followed similar trends to 
the Corvallis and Tangent 
submarkets.  
Over the 2016 to 2020 
period, Millersburg’s median 
housing price increased by 
33% or $101,919.  

Exhibit 37. Median Sales Price, Millersburg Area and Submarket, 
2016 to April 2021 
Source: Redfin. 

 

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

$350,000

$400,000

$450,000

$500,000

$550,000

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Linn County Millersburg Albany Corvallis Lebanon Tangent

114 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  48

Since 2000, housing costs 
in Millersburg have 
increased on pace with 
incomes; however, for Linn 
County and Oregon, housing 
costs have outpaced 
income. 
The household reported 
median value of a house in 
Millersburg was 4.1 times 
the median household 
income (MHI) in 2000, and 
3.9 times MHI in the 2015-
2019 period, indicating 
income growth has stayed 
on pace with rising home 
values. 

In both Linn County and 
Oregon, however, housing 
affordability has declined. 
This is also observed in all 
comparison cities, with the 
largest increase in median 
home value-to-MHI ratio 
occurring in Corvallis. 

Exhibit 38. Ratio of Median Housing Value to Median Household 
Income, Millersburg, Linn County, Oregon, and Comparison Cities, 
2000 to 2015-201936 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census, Tables HCT012 and H085; 
2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimates, Tables B19013 and B25077. 

 

   

 
36 This ratio compares the median value of housing in Millersburg (and other places) to the median household 

income. Inflation‐adjusted median owner values in Millersburg increased from $233,866 in 2000 to $350,000 in 2015‐

2019. Over the same period, inflation‐adjusted median income increased from $57,162 to $89,286. 

4.09

3.2

4.3

3.4

1.7

3.28
3.6

3.92
3.7

6.2

3.9 3.7
3.96

5.0

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Millersburg Albany Corvallis Lebanon Tangent Linn County Oregon

2000 2015-2019

115 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  49

Rental Costs 

Rent costs in Millersburg are higher than average for both Linn County and the state. The 

following charts show gross rent (which includes the cost of rent plus utilities) for Millersburg 

in comparison to Linn County, Oregon, and comparison cities. 

The median gross rent in 
Millersburg was $1,297 in 
the 2015-2019 period. 
Rent in Millersburg is higher 
than Linn County, the state, 
and all comparison areas. 

Exhibit 39. Median Gross Rent, Millersburg, Linn County, Oregon, 
and Comparison Cities, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimates, Table B25064. 

 

About 52% of renters in 
Millersburg pay $1,250 or 
more per month in rent, a 
larger share than both Linn 
County and the state. 

Exhibit 40. Gross Rent, Millersburg, Linn County, Oregon, 2015-
2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimates, Table B25063. 

 

$938 $964 $966

$1,091 $1,110

$1,293 $1,297

$0

$200

$400

$600

$800

$1,000

$1,200

$1,400

Le
ban

on

Lin
n C

ou
nty

Alb
an

y

Cor
va

llis

Ore
go

n

Ta
nge

nt

M
ille

rs
bu

rg

4%

4%

6%

12%

17%

21%

36%

3%

4%

7%

17%

25%

26%

17%

4%

0%

27%

0%

13%

5%

52%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

No cash rent

Less than $400

$400 to $599

$600 to $799

$800 to $999

$1,000 to $1,249

$1,250 or more

Millersburg Linn County Oregon

116 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  50

Housing Affordability 

A typical standard used to determine housing affordability is that a household should pay no 

more than a certain percentage of household income for housing, including payments and 

interest or rent, utilities, and insurance. The Department of Housing and Urban Development’s 

guidelines indicate that households paying more than 30% of their income on housing 

experience “cost burden,” and households paying more than 50% of their income on housing 

experience “severe cost burden.” Using cost burden as an indicator is one method of 

determining how well a city is meeting the Goal 10 requirement to provide housing that is 

affordable to all households in a community. 

About 13% of Millersburg’s households are cost burdened and 7% are severely cost burdened. 

About 33% of renter households are cost burdened, compared with 18% of homeowners. 

Overall, Millersburg has the lowest share of cost‐burdened households when compared to Linn 

County, the state, and comparison areas. 

For example, about 14% of Millersburg’s households have an income of less than $32,250 per 

year. These households can afford rent of less than $806 per month, or a home with a value of 

less than $67,725. Most, but not all, of these households are cost burdened.  

Overall, about 20% of all 
households in Millersburg 
are cost burdened. 
Relative to all comparison 
areas, Millersburg has the 
lowest share of cost 
burdened households. 

Exhibit 41. Housing Cost Burden, Millersburg, Linn County, Oregon, 
Other Comparison Cities, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS Tables B25091 and B25070. 

 

7%

13%

12%

14%

15%

24%

21%

13%

14%

20%

20%

19%

19%

22%

0% 15% 30% 45%

Millersburg

Tangent

Albany

Linn County

Oregon

Corvallis

Lebanon

Severely cost burdened Cost burdened

117 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  51

From 2000 to the 2015-
2019 period, the number of 
cost-burdened and severely 
cost-burdened households 
declined by 10 percentage 
points in Millersburg. 

Exhibit 42. Change in Housing Cost Burden, Millersburg, 2000 to 
2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Decennial Census, Tables H069 and H094; and 
2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimates, Tables B25091 and B25070. 

 

Renters are much more 
likely to be cost burdened 
than homeowners. 
In the 2015-2019 period, 
about 33% of Millersburg’s 
renters were cost burdened 
or severely cost burdened, 
compared to 18% of 
homeowners. 

About 12% of Millersburg’s 
renters were severely cost 
burdened. 

Exhibit 43. Housing Cost Burden by Tenure, Millersburg, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimates, Tables B25091 
and B25070. 

 
 

9%
7%

21%

13%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2000 2015-2019

Severely Cost Burdened Cost Burdened

6%

12%

7%

12%

21%

13%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Owners Renters Total

Severely Cost Burdened Cost Burdened

118 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  52

As of the 2015-2019 period, 
3% of all households in 
Millersburg were cost 
burdened renters. 

Exhibit 44. Renter Cost Burden, Millersburg, 2015-2019 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS 5-year estimates, Tables B25091 
and B25070. 

733 
Total Households 

25 
Cost Burdened Renter 
Households 

3% 
Share of Cost 
Burdened Renters  
(% of total households) 

 

 to  show cost burden in Oregon for renter households for seniors, People of Color, and people 

with disabilities.37 This information is not readily available for a city with a population as small 

as Millersburg, which is why we present statewide information. These exhibits show that these 

groups experience cost burden at higher rates than the overall statewide average. 

While cost burden is a common measure of housing affordability, it does have some limitations. 

Two important limitations are:  

 A household is defined as cost burdened if the housing costs exceed 30% of their 

income, regardless of actual income. The remaining 70% of income is expected to be 

spent on non‐discretionary expenses, such as food or medical care, and on discretionary 

expenses. Households with higher incomes may be able to pay more than 30% of their 

income on housing without impacting the household’s ability to pay for necessary non‐

discretionary expenses. 

 Cost burden compares income to housing costs and does not account for accumulated 

wealth. As a result, the estimate of how much a household can afford to pay for housing 

does not include the impact of a household’s accumulated wealth. For example, a 

household of retired people may have relatively low income but may have accumulated 

assets (such as profits from selling another house) that allow them to purchase a house 

that would be considered unaffordable to them based on the cost burden indicator.  

Another way of exploring the issue of financial need is to review housing affordability at 

varying levels of household income. 

Fair Market Rent for a 
2-bedroom apartment 
in Linn County is 
$1,133. 

Exhibit 45. HUD Fair Market Rent (FMR) by Unit Type,  
Linn County, 2021 
Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

$794 
Studio 

$860 
1-Bedroom 

$1,133 
2-Bedroom 

$1,591 
3-Bedroom 

$1,888 
4-Bedroom 

 

 
37 From the report Implementing a Regional Housing Needs Analysis Methodology in Oregon, prepared for Oregon 

Housing and Community Services by ECONorthwest, March 2021. 

119 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  53

A household must earn 
at least $21.79 per hour 
to afford a two-bedroom 
unit at Fair Market Rent 
($1,133) in Linn County. 

Exhibit 46. Affordable Housing Wage, Linn County, 2021 
Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development; Oregon Bureau of 
Labor and Industries. 

$21.79 per hour 
Affordable Housing Wage for two-bedroom Unit in Linn County  

 

   

120 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  54

Exhibit 47 shows housing affordability based on incomes for Linn County. The regional Median 

Family Income (MFI) is used by HUD as a way to understand the differences in housing 

affordability in different places across the nation. In Linn County, the MFI for a family of four is 

$64,500. A household earning the median family income ($64,500) can afford a monthly rent of 

about $1,610 or a home roughly valued between $226,000 and $258,000. 

A household would need to have income of about $118,000, or 183% of MFI for Linn County to 

afford a house at the Millersburg 2020 median home sale price of $414,000. About 28% of 

households in Millersburg can afford housing at this cost. 

A household would need to have income of about $52,000 (about 80% of MFI) to afford the 

median gross rent for multifamily housing of nearly $1,297. About 80% of households in 

Millersburg can afford housing at this cost. 

Exhibit 47. Financially Attainable Housing, by Median Family Income (MFI) for Linn County ($64,500), 
Millersburg, 2020 
Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Linn County, 2020. Oregon Employment Department. 

 

121 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  55

About 20% of 
Millersburg’s households 
have income less than 
$35,000 and cannot 
afford a two-bedroom 
apartment at Linn 
County’s Fair Market Rent 
(FMR) of $1,133. 

Exhibit 48. Share of Households, by Median Family Income (MFI) for 
Linn County ($64,500), Millersburg, 2020 
Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Linn County, 2020. 
U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS Table 19001. 

 

 

   

6% 7% 8%
16%

63%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Extremely Low
Income

(<30% of MFI)

Very Low Income
(30-50% of less

of MFI)

Low Income
(50-80% of MFI)

Middle Income
(80-120% of

MFI)

High Income
(>120% of MFI)

44 HH 48 HH 57 HH

120 HH

467 HH

122 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  56

Exhibit 49 illustrates the types of financially attainable housing by income level in Linn County. 

Generally speaking, however lower‐income households will be renters occupying existing 

housing. Newly built housing will be a combination of renters (most likely in multifamily 

housing) and homeowners. The types of housing affordable for the lowest income households is 

limited to government subsidized housing, manufactured housing, lower‐cost single‐family 

housing, and multifamily housing. The range of financially attainable housing increases with 

increased income.  

Exhibit 49. Types of Financially Attainable Housing by Median Family Income (MFI) for Linn County 
($64,500), Millersburg, 2020 
Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Linn County, 2020. Oregon Employment Department. 

 

   

123 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  57

Exhibit 50 illustrates housing unit affordability based on information from HUD and the U.S. 

Census about unit affordability and household income. It shows household income by 

percentage of MFI and units affordable by MFI grouping.  

 Cells highlighted in green show the number of households who live in housing that is 

affordable to them at their income level. Exhibit 50 shows that 26 of Millersburg’s 

households have income below 50% of MFI and live in a unit affordable to that income 

grouping. 

 Cells highlighted in red show the number of households who are cost burdened because 

they live in housing that is not affordable to them. Cost burden is most common among 

households with income below 50% of MFI, with about 19 households living in housing 

affordable at 50‐80% of MFI. 

 Cells highlighted in blue show the number of households who are renting or buying 

down and could afford to live in housing that costs more. Renting or buying down is 

most common among households with income above 80% of MFI, with about 72 

households living housing affordable at 50‐80% of MFI. These households may own 

their units and choose to continue to live in them by preference. 

Exhibit 50. Unit Affordability by Household Income, Millersburg, 2013-2017 
Source: HUD, CHAS Data, 2013-2017, Table 18A-C. 

 

Millersburg can have a role in supporting development of housing affordable to lower and 

middle‐income households, as the private market generally does not build housing affordable 

to those households. Housing affordable to households in this income category is generally 

built by nonprofit affordable housing developers or public agencies.  

   

Unit Affordability 0-50% HAMFI 50-80% HAMFI +80% HAMFI
0-50% 26 8 42 *Renting/

50-80% Cost 19 8 72 Buying Down*

+80% Burdened 32 27 405

Household Income

124 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  58

Summary of the Factors Affecting Millersburg’s  
Housing Needs 

The purpose of the analysis thus far has been to provide background on the kinds of factors that 

influence housing choice. While the number and interrelationships among these factors ensure 

that generalizations about housing choice are difficult to make and prone to inaccuracies, it is a 

crucial step to informing the types of housing that will be needed in the future.  

There is no question that age affects housing type and tenure. Mobility is substantially higher 

for people aged 20 to 34. People in that age group will also have, on average, less income than 

people who are older and they are less likely to have children. These factors mean that younger 

households are much more likely to be renters, and renters are more likely to be in multifamily 

housing.  

The data illustrate what more detailed research has shown: life cycle and housing choice 

interact in ways that are predictable in the aggregate; age of the household head is correlated 

with household size and income; household size and age of household head affect housing 

preferences; and income affects the ability of a household to afford a preferred housing type.  

Thus, simply looking at the long wave of demographic trends can provide good information for 

estimating future housing demand. However, certain trends, including differences in housing 

characteristics by race or ethnicity, are more likely to reflect availability of affordable housing, 

rather than different preferences for by race or ethnicity. 

Still, one is ultimately left with the need to make a qualitative assessment of the future housing 

market. The following is a discussion of how demographic and housing trends are likely to 

affect housing in Millersburg over the next 20 years:  

 Growth in housing will be driven by growth in population. Between 2000 and 2020, 

Millersburg’s population grew by 2,199 people (338%). The population in Millersburg’s 

UGB is forecasted to grow from 2,937 to 4,883, an increase of 1,946 people (66%) between 

2021 and 2041.38  

 Housing affordability is a growing challenge in Millersburg. Housing affordability is 

a challenge in most of the Mid‐Willamette Valley region in general, and Millersburg is 

affected by these regional trends. Housing prices are increasing faster than incomes in 

Linn County, which is consistent with state and national challenges. Millersburg has a 

minimal supply of multifamily housing (about 1% of the city’s housing stock), and a 

small share of renter households (11%). Millersburg’s key challenge over the next 20 

years is providing opportunities for development of relatively affordable housing of all 

types, such as lower‐cost single‐family housing, townhouses and duplexes, market‐rate 

multifamily housing, and government‐subsidized affordable housing.  

 
38 This forecast is based on Linn County’s certified population estimate and official forecast from the Oregon 

Population Forecast Program for the 2021 to 2041 period, shown in Exhibit 14. 

125 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  59

 Without substantial changes in housing policy, on average, future housing will look a 

lot like past housing. That is the assumption that underlies any trend forecast, and one 

that is important when trying to address demand for new housing.  

The City’s residential policies can impact the amount of change in Millersburg’s 

housing market, to some degree. If the City adopts policies to increase opportunities to 

build smaller‐scale single‐family and multifamily housing types (particularly 

multifamily that is affordable to low‐ and moderate‐income households), a larger 

percentage of new housing developed over the next 20 years in Millersburg may begin 

to provide more opportunities for renter housing and better meet the needs of cost 

burdened renters (which account for 33% of Millersburg’s renters). Examples of policies 

that the City could adopt to achieve this outcome include: allowing a wider range of 

housing types (e.g., duplex or townhouses) in single‐family zones, ensuring that there 

is sufficient land zoned to allow single‐family attached multifamily housing 

development, supporting development of government‐subsidized affordable housing, 

and encouraging multifamily residential development in downtown. The degree of 

change in Millersburg’s housing market, however, will depend on market demand for 

these types of housing in Linn County. 

If the future differs from the past, it is likely to move in the direction, on average, of 

smaller units and more diverse housing types. Most of the evidence suggests that the 

bulk of the change will be in the direction of smaller average house and lot sizes for 

single‐family housing. This includes providing opportunities for development of 

smaller single‐family detached homes, townhomes, and multifamily housing. 

Key demographic and economic trends that will affect Millersburg’s future housing 

needs are: (1) the aging of the Baby Boomers, (2) the aging of the Millennials and 

Generation Z, (3) the continued growth in the Hispanic or Latino population, and (4) 

access to a range of housing types for people of color. 

 The Baby Boomer’s population is continuing to age. The changes that affect Millersburg’s 

housing demand as the population ages are that household sizes and 

homeownership rates decrease. The majority of Baby Boomers are expected to 

remain in their homes as long as possible, downsizing or moving when illness or 

other issues cause them to move. Demand for specialized senior housing, such as 

age‐restricted housing or housing in a Continuum of Care from independent living 

to nursing home care, may grow in Millersburg. 

 Millennials and Generation Z will continue to form households and make a variety of 

housing choices. As Millennials and Generation Z age, generally speaking, their 

household sizes will increase, and their homeownership rates will peak by about age 

55. Between 2020 and 2040, Millennials and Generation Z will be a key driver in 

demand for housing for families with children. The ability to attract these younger 

households will depend on the City’s availability of affordable renter and ownership 

housing. It will also depend on the location of new housing in Millersburg as many 

126 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  60

Millennials prefer to live in more walkable neighborhoods.39 The decline in 

homeownership among the Millennial generation has more to do with financial 

barriers rather than the preference to rent.40 Housing preferences for Generation Z 

are not yet known but it is reasonable that they will also need affordable housing, 

both for rental and later in life for ownership. 

 Hispanic or Latino population will continue to grow.  Hispanic or Latino population 

growth will be an important driver in growth of housing demand, both for owner‐ 

and renter‐occupied housing. Growth in the Hispanic or Latino population will 

drive demand for housing for families with children. Hispanic or Latino households 

are disproportionately cost burdened when compared to the statewide average, in 

part because of lower household incomes. Growth in Hispanic or Latino households 

will also drive demand for affordable housing, both for ownership and renting, both 

for smaller units for one‐ and two‐person households but also for larger family 

households, including multigenerational households. 

In summary, an aging population, increasing housing costs, housing affordability concerns for 

Millennials and the Hispanic or Latino populations, and other variables are factors that support 

the conclusion of need for smaller and less expensive units and a broader array of housing 

choices. 

   

 
39 Choi, Hyun June; Zhu, Jun; Goodman, Laurie; Ganesh, Bhargavi; Strochak, Sarah. (2018). Millennial 

Homeownership, Why is it So Low, and How Can We Increase It? Urban Institute. 

https://www.urban.org/research/publication/millennial‐homeownership/view/full_report  

40 Ibid. 

127 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  61

5. Housing Need in Millersburg 

Project New Housing Units Needed in the Next 20 Years 

The results of the Housing Capacity Analysis are based on: (1) the official population forecast 

for growth in Millersburg over the 20‐year planning period, (2) information about Millersburg’s 

housing market relative to Linn County, Oregon, and nearby cities, and (3) the demographic 

composition of Millersburg’s existing population and expected long‐term changes in the 

demographics of Linn County. 

Forecast for Housing Growth 

This section describes the key assumptions and presents an estimate of new housing units 

needed in Millersburg between 2021 and 2041. The key assumptions are based on the best 

available data and may rely on safe harbor provisions, when available.41  

 Population. A 20‐year population forecast (in this instance, 2021 to 2041) is the 

foundation for estimating needed new dwelling units. Millersburg’s UGB will grow 

from 2,937 persons in 2021 to 4,883 persons in 2041, an increase of 1,946 people.42  

 Persons in Group Quarters43. Persons in group quarters do not consume standard 

housing units: thus, any forecast of new people in group quarters is typically derived 

from the population forecast for the purpose of estimating housing demand. Group 

quarters can have a big influence on housing in cities with colleges (dorms), prisons, or a 

large elderly population (nursing homes). In general, any new requirements for these 

housing types will be met by institutions (colleges, government agencies, health‐care 

corporations) operating outside what is typically defined as the housing market. 

Nonetheless, group quarters require residential land. They are typically built at densities 

that are comparable to that of multifamily dwellings. 

 
41 A safe harbor is an assumption that a city can use in a Housing Capacity Analysis that the State has said will satisfy 

the requirements of Goal 14. OAR 660‐024 defines a safe harbor as “… an optional course of action that a local 

government may use to satisfy a requirement of Goal 14. Use of a safe harbor prescribed in this division will satisfy 

the requirement for which it is prescribed. A safe harbor is not the only way, or necessarily the preferred way, to 

comply with a requirement and it is not intended to interpret the requirement for any purpose other than applying a 

safe harbor within this division.” 

42 This forecast is based on Millersburg UGB’s official forecast from the Oregon Population Forecast Program for the 

2021 to 2041 period.  

43 The Census Bureauʹs definition of group quarters is as follows: A group quarters is a place where people live or 

stay, in a group living arrangement, that is owned or managed by an entity or organization providing housing and/or 

services for the residents. The Census Bureau classifies all people not living in housing units (house, apartment, 

mobile home, rented rooms) as living in group quarters. There are two types of group quarters: (1) Institutional, such 

as correctional facilities, nursing homes, or mental hospitals and (2) Non‐Institutional, such as college dormitories, 

military barracks, group homes, missions, or shelters. 

128 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  62

The 2015‐2019 American Community Survey shows that 0.2% of Millersburg’s 

population was in group quarters. For the 2021 to 2041 period, we assume that 0.2% of 

Millersburg’s new population, approximately 3 people, will be in group quarters.  

 Household Size. OAR 660‐024 established a safe harbor assumption for average 

household size—which is the figure from the most‐recent decennial Census at the time 

of the analysis. According to the 2015‐2019 American Community Survey, the average 

household size in Millersburg was 2.71 people. Thus, for the 2021 to 2041 period, we 

assume an average household size of 2.71 persons. 

 Vacancy Rate. The Census defines vacancy as: ʺunoccupied housing units are 

considered vacant. Vacancy status is determined by the terms under which the unit may 

be occupied, e.g., for rent, for sale, or for seasonal use only.ʺ The 2010 Census identified 

vacancy through an enumeration, separate from (but related to) the survey of 

households. The Census determines vacancy status and other characteristics of vacant 

units by enumerators obtaining information from property owners and managers, 

neighbors, rental agents, and others. 

Vacancy rates are cyclical and represent the lag between demand and the market’s 

response to demand for additional dwelling units. Vacancy rates for rental and 

multifamily units are typically higher than those for owner‐occupied and single‐family 

dwelling units. 

OAR 660‐024 established a safe harbor assumption for vacancy rate—which is the figure 

from the most‐recent decennial Census. According to the 2015‐2019 American 

Community Survey, Millersburg’s vacancy rate was 0.3%. For the 2021 to 2041 period, 

we assume a vacancy rate of 0.3%. 

Millersburg will have 
demand for 719 new 
dwelling units over the 
20-year period, with an 
annual average of 36 
dwelling units. 

Exhibit 51. Forecast of Demand for New Dwelling Units, 
Millersburg UGB, 2021 to 2041 
Source: Calculations by ECONorthwest. 

 

   

Variable
New Dwelling 

Units 
(2021-2041)

Change in persons 1,946               
minus  Change in persons in group quarters 3                       
equals  Persons in households 1,943               

Average household size 2.71                 
New occupied DU 717                  

times  Vacancy rate 0.3%
equals  Vacant dwelling units 2                       

Total new dwelling units (2021-2041) 719                  
Annual average of new dwelling units 36                    

129 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  63

Housing Units Needed Over the Next 20 Years 

Exhibit 51 presents a forecast of new housing in Millersburg’s UGB for the 2021 to 2041 period. 

This section determines the needed mix and density for the development of new housing 

developed over this 20‐year period in Millersburg. 

Over the next 20‐years, the need for new housing developed in Millersburg will generally 

include a wider range of housing types and housing that is more affordable. This conclusion is 

based on the following information, found in Chapter 3 and 4: 

 Millersburg’s housing mix is predominately single‐family detached. In the 2015‐2019 

period, 97% of Millersburg’s housing was single‐family detached, 2% was single‐family 

attached, and 1% was multifamily (with 2 or more units), which presents limited options 

for rental housing.  

 Demographic changes across Millersburg suggest increases in demand for single‐family 

attached housing and multifamily housing. The key demographic trends that will affect 

Millersburg’s future housing needs are the aging of the Baby Boomers, the household 

formation of the Millennials, and growth in Hispanic or Latino populations. The 

implications of the trends are increased demand from small, older (often single person) 

households and increased demand for affordable housing for families, both for 

ownership and rent.  

 Millersburg’s median household income was $89,286, about $33,000 higher than Linn 

County’s median. Approximately 19% of Millersburg’s households earn less than 

$50,000 per year, compared to 45% in Linn County and 40% in Oregon. 

 About 20% of Millersburg’s households are cost burdened (paying 30% or more of their 

household income on housing costs).44 About 33% of Millersburg’s renters (11% of all 

households) are cost burdened and about 18% of Millersburg’s homeowners are cost 

burdened. Cost burden rates in Millersburg are lower than those in Linn County. 

Millersburg has limited opportunity for rental housing affordable to renters at the 

lower‐ and moderate‐income levels. 

 Millersburg needs more affordable housing types for homeowners. Housing sales prices 

increased in Millersburg over the last three years. From 2016 to 2020, the median 

housing sale price increased by about $102,000 (33%), from about $312,000 to $414,000.  

A household would need to have income of about $118,000, or 183% of median family 

income for Linn County ($64,500) to afford a house at the Millersburg 2020 median 

home sale price of $414,000. About 28% of households in Millersburg can afford housing 

at this cost. 

 
44 The Department of Housing and Urban Development’s guidelines indicate that households paying more than 30% 

of their income on housing experience “cost burden,” and households paying more than 50% of their income on 

housing experience “severe cost burden.” 

130 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  64

 Millersburg needs more affordable housing types for renters. A household would need 

to have income of about $52,000 (about 80% of MFI) to afford the median gross rent for 

multifamily housing of nearly $1,297. About 80% of households in Millersburg can 

afford housing at this cost. 

These factors suggest that Millersburg needs a broader range of housing types with a wider 

range of price points than are currently available in Millersburg’s housing stock. This includes 

providing opportunity for development of housing types across the affordability spectrum such 

as: single‐family detached housing (e.g., small‐lot single‐family detached units, cottages, and 

“traditional” single‐family), townhouses, duplexes, tri‐ and quad‐plexes, and apartments, as 

stated in ORS 197.303:  

“As used in ORS 197.286 to 197.314, “needed housing” means all housing on land zoned for 

residential use or mixed residential and commercial use that is determined to meet the need 

shown for housing within an urban growth boundary at price ranges and rent levels that are 

affordable to households within the county with a variety of incomes, including but not limited to 

households with low incomes, very low incomes and extremely low incomes, as those terms are 

defined by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development under 42 U.S.C. 

1437a. “Needed housing” includes the following housing types: 

(a) Attached and detached single‐family housing and multiple family housing for both 

owner and renter occupancy; 

(b) Government assisted housing; 

(c) Mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks as provided in ORS 197.475 to 

197.490; 

(d) Manufactured homes on individual lots planned and zoned for single‐family 

residential use that are in addition to lots within designated manufactured dwelling 

subdivisions; and 

(e) Housing for farmworkers.” 

Exhibit 52 shows a preliminary forecast of needed housing in the Millersburg UGB during the 

2021 to 2041 period. The projection is based on the following assumptions: 

 Millersburg’s official forecast for population growth shows that the city will add 1,946 

people over the 20‐year period. Exhibit 51 shows that the new population will result in 

need for 719 new dwelling units over the 20‐year period. 

 The assumptions about the mix of housing in Exhibit 52 are: 

 About 75% of new housing should be single‐family detached, a category which 

includes manufactured housing. About 97% of Millersburg’s housing was single‐

family detached in the 2015‐2019 period.  

 Nearly 15% of new housing should be single‐family attached. About 2% of 

Millersburg’s housing was single‐family attached in the 2015‐2019 period. 

131 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  65

 About 10% of new housing should be multifamily. About 1% of Millersburg’s 

housing was multifamily in the 2015‐2019 period. 

Millersburg will have 
demand for 719 new 
dwelling units over the 20-
year period, 75% of which 
will be single-family 
detached housing. 

Exhibit 52. Forecast of Demand for New Dwelling Units, 
Millersburg UGB, 2021 to 2041 
Source: Calculations by ECONorthwest. Note: DU = Dwelling Units 

 

 

Exhibit 53 allocates needed housing to plan designations in Millersburg. The allocation is based, 

in part, on the types of housing allowed in the zoning designations in each plan designation by 

zone. Exhibit 53 shows: 

 Residential Low land will accommodate new single‐family detached housing, including 

manufactured houses.  

 Mixed Use land will accommodate new single‐family attached (townhouses) and 

multifamily housing with two or more units.  

 Residential Mixed Density land will not accommodate new housing, as the buildable 

lands inventory indicates there is no buildable land in this zone in Millersburg at the 

time of this analysis.  

 Rural land may accommodate new housing, but the residential low zone has enough 

capacity to accommodate the need for single‐family detached housing over the 20‐year 

period.  

Variable
Housing 
Forecast

Needed new dwelling units (2021-2041) 719
Dwelling units by structure type

Single-family detached
Percent single-family detached DU 75%

Total new single-family detached DU 539
Single-family attached

Percent single-family attached DU 15%
Total new single-family attached DU 108

Multifamily
Percent multifamily DU 10%

Total new multifamily Du 72
Total new dwelling units (2021-2041) 719

132 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  66

Exhibit 53. Allocation of Needed Housing by Housing Type and Plan Designation, Millersburg UGB, 
2021 to 2041 
Source: ECONorthwest. 

 

Exhibit 54 shows the following densities, in gross acres.45 Exhibit 54 shows the densities derived 

from Millersburg’s development code, which reports maximum density in gross acres by zone. 

These densities were used as the basis for calculating capacity of buildable land in the housing 

capacity analysis, assuming development will occur at 80% of maximum gross densities.  

Exhibit 54. Future Density for Housing Built in the Millersburg UGB, 2021 to 2041 
Source: ECONorthwest. Note: DU is dwelling unit. 

 

Needed Housing by Income Level 

The next step in the Housing Capacity Analysis is to develop an estimate of need for housing by 

income and housing type. This analysis requires an estimate of the income distribution of 

 
45 OAR 660‐024‐0010(6) uses the following definition of net buildable acre. “Net Buildable Acre” “…consists of 43,560 

square feet of residentially designated buildable land after excluding future rights‐of‐way for streets and roads.” 

While the administrative rule does not include a definition of a gross buildable acre, using the definition above, a 

gross buildable acre will include areas used for rights‐of‐way for streets and roads. Areas used for rights‐of‐way are 

considered unbuildable.0000 

Residential 
Low

Mixed Use

Dwelling Units
Single-family detached 539                -                 539           
Single-family attached -                 108                108           
Multifamily -                 72                  72              

Total 539               180               719           
Percent of Units

Single-family detached 75% 0% 75%
Single-family attached 0% 15% 15%
Multifamily 0% 10% 10%

Total 75% 25% 100%

TOTAL
Zone

Housing Type

Plan 
Designation/Zone

Avg. Gross Density 
(DU/net acre)

Residential 
Residential Low 3.4                        
Rural 3.4                        

Commercial
Mixed Use 25.6                      

133 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  67

current and future households in the community. Estimates presented in this section are based 

on (1) secondary data from the Census, and (2) analysis by ECONorthwest. 

The analysis in Exhibit 55 is based on Census data about household income levels for existing 

households in Millersburg. Income is distributed into market segments consistent with HUD 

income level categories, using Linn County’s 2020 Median Family Income (MFI) of $64,500. The 

Exhibit assumes that approximately the same percentage of households will be in each market 

segment in the future.  

About 13% of Millersburg’s 
future households will have 
income below 50% of Linn 
County’s median family 
income (less than $32,250 
in 2020 dollars).  
About 87% will have 
incomes between 50% and 
120% of the county’s MFI 
(between $32,250 and 
$77,400).  
This graph shows that, as 
Millersburg’s population 
grows, Millersburg will 
continue to have demand 
for housing across the 
affordability spectrum.   

Exhibit 55. Future (New) Households, by Median Family Income 
(MFI) for Linn County ($64,500), Millersburg, 2021 to 2041 
Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Linn County, 2020. 
U.S. Census Bureau, 2015-2019 ACS Table 19001. 

 

 

Need for Income-Restricted, Farmworker, Manufactured 
Housing, People with Disabilities, and People Experiencing 
Homelessness 

ORS 197.303, 197.307, 197.312, and 197.314 requires cities to plan for income‐restricted housing, 

farmworker housing, manufactured housing on lots, and manufactured housing in parks. 

 Income‐restricted housing. Government‐subsidies for development of income‐restricted 

housing can apply to all housing types (e.g., single family detached, apartments, etc.). 

Millersburg allows development of government‐assisted housing in all residential plan 

zones, with the same development standards for market‐rate housing. This analysis 

assumes that Millersburg will continue to allow government housing in all of its 

residential plan designations. Because government assisted housing is similar in 

6% 7% 8%
16%

63%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Extremely Low
Income

(<30% of MFI)

Very Low
Income

(30-50% of
MFI)

Low Income
(50-80% of

MFI)

Middle Income
(80-120% of

MFI)

High Income
(>120% of MFI)

Pe
rc

en
t o

f N
ew

 H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

(H
H

)

43 HH 47 HH 56 HH

117 HH

456 HH

134 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  68

character to other housing (with the exception being the subsidies), it is not necessary to 

develop separate forecasts for government‐subsidized housing.  

 Farmworker housing. Farmworker housing can also apply to all housing types and the 

city allows development of farmworker housing in all residential zones, with the same 

development standards as market‐rate housing. This analysis assumes that Millersburg 

will continue to allow housing for this population in all of its residential zones. Because 

it is similar in character to other housing (with the possible exception of government 

subsidies, if population restricted), it is not necessary to develop separate forecasts for 

farmworker housing. 

 Manufactured housing on lots. Millersburg allows manufactured homes on residential 

zones as a special use. 

 Manufactured housing in parks. Millersburg allows manufactured homes in parks as a 

special use in the residential mixed (RM) zone. OAR 197.480(4) requires cities to 

inventory the mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks sited in areas planned and 

zoned or generally used for commercial, industrial, or high‐density residential 

development. According to the Oregon Housing and Community Services’ 

Manufactured Dwelling Park Directory,46 Millersburg has one manufactured home park 

within the urban growth boundary. Village Estates Mobile Home Park has 39 spot, with 

4 vacant spots as of November 2021.   

ORS 197.480(2) requires Millersburg to project need for mobile home or manufactured 

dwelling parks based on: (1) population projections, (2) household income levels, (3) 

housing market trends, and (4) an inventory of manufactured dwelling parks sited in 

areas planned and zoned or generally used for commercial, industrial, or high density 

residential.  

 Exhibit 51 shows that Millersburg will grow by 719 dwelling units over the 2021 to 

2041 period.  

 Analysis of housing affordability shows that about 13% of Millersburg’s new 

households will be considered very‐low or extremely‐low‐income, earning 50% or 

less of the region’s median family income. One type of housing affordable to these 

households is manufactured housing. 

 Manufactured housing (i.e., mobile homes as reported in the American Community 

Survey) accounts for about 7% (about 54 dwelling units) of Millersburg’s current 

housing stock.  

 National, state, and regional trends since 2000 showed that manufactured housing 

parks are closing, rather than being created. For example, between 2000 and 2015, 

Oregon had 68 manufactured parks close, with more than 2,700 spaces. Discussions 

with several stakeholders familiar with manufactured home park trends suggest that 

 
46 Oregon Housing and Community Services, Oregon Manufactured Dwelling Park Directory, 

http://o.hcs.state.or.us/MDPCRParks/ParkDirQuery.jsp 

135 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  69

over the same period, few to no new manufactured home parks have opened in 

Oregon.  

 The households most likely to live in manufactured homes in parks are those with 

incomes between $19,350 and $32,250 (30% to 50% of MFI), which include 7% of 

Millersburg’s households. However, households in other income categories may live 

in manufactured homes in parks.  

Manufactured home park development is allowed as a special use in the residential 

mixed zone (RM). National and state trends of closure of manufactured home parks, 

and the fact that no new manufactured home parks have opened in Oregon in over 

the last 15 years, demonstrate that development of new manufactured home parks in 

Millersburg is unlikely, though manufactured homes may locate on lots in 

Millersburg where they are allowed. The forecast of housing assumes that no new 

manufactured home parks will be opened in Millersburg over the 2021‐2041 period. 

 While there is statewide regulation of the closure of manufactured home parks 

designed to lessen the financial difficulties of this closure for park residents,47 the 

City has a role to play in ensuring that there are opportunities for housing for the 

displaced residents. The City’s primary roles are to ensure that there is sufficient 

land zoned for new multifamily housing and to reduce barriers to residential 

development to allow for development of new, relatively affordable housing (both 

for households with income below 60% of MFI, who will need income‐restricted 

housing, and for households with incomes of 60% to 120% of MFI, who can afford 

some market‐rate housing).  

 If the City does have need for a new manufactured home park, that would be for 

about 39 new units (5% of new units), which at about 7 dwelling units per gross acre 

(based on standards for manufactured home parks in Millersburg’s Development 

Code Chapter 3.11) will need 5.5 acres of land. Millersburg does not currently have 

enough land in the RM zone to accommodate this in their existing vacant buildable 

land base. 

   

 
47 ORS 90.645 regulates rules about closure of manufactured dwelling parks. It requires that the landlord must do the 

following for manufactured dwelling park tenants before closure of the park: give at least one year’s notice of park 

closure, pay the tenant between $5,000 to $9,000 for each manufactured dwelling park space, and cannot charge 

tenants for demolition costs of abandoned manufactured homes.  

136 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  70

6. Residential Land Sufficiency in Millersburg 

This chapter presents an evaluation of the sufficiency of vacant residential land in Millersburg 

to accommodate expected residential growth over the 2021 to 2041 period. This chapter includes 

an estimate of residential development capacity (measured in new dwelling units) and an 

estimate of Millersburg’s ability to accommodate needed new housing units for the 2021 to 2041 

period, based on the analysis in the Housing Capacity Analysis. The chapter ends with a 

discussion of the conclusions and recommendations for the Housing Capacity Analysis.  

Capacity Analysis 

The buildable lands inventory summarized in Chapter 2 (and presented in full in Appendix A) 

provides a supply analysis (buildable land by type), and Chapter 5 provided a demand analysis 

(population and growth leading to demand for more residential development). The comparison 

of supply and demand allows the determination of land sufficiency. 

There are two ways to calculate estimates of supply and demand into common units of 

measurement to allow their comparison: (1) housing demand can be converted into acres, or (2) 

residential land supply can be converted into dwelling units. A complication of either approach 

is that not all land has the same characteristics. Factors such as zone, slope, parcel size, and 

shape can affect the ability of land to accommodate housing. Methods that recognize this fact 

are more robust and produce more realistic results. This analysis uses the second approach: it 

estimates the ability of vacant residential lands within the UGB to accommodate new housing. 

This analysis, sometimes called a “capacity analysis,”48 can be used to evaluate different ways 

that vacant residential land may build out by applying different assumptions.  

Millersburg Capacity Analysis Results 

The capacity analysis estimates the development potential of vacant residential land to 

accommodate new housing, based on the needed densities by the housing type categories 

shown in Exhibit 54. Exhibit 56 shows that Millersburg has 350 acres of vacant or partially 

vacant land to accommodate dwelling units, based on the following assumptions:  

 Buildable residential land. The capacity estimates in Exhibit 56 start with the number of 

buildable acres in residential plan designations and commercial plan designation that 

allows residential uses outright, as shown in Chapter 2.  

 
48 There is ambiguity in the term capacity analysis. It would not be unreasonable for one to say that the “capacity” of 

vacant land is the maximum number of dwellings that could be built based on density limits defined legally by plan 

designation or zoning, and that development usually occurs—for physical and market reasons—at something less 

than full capacity. For that reason, we have used the longer phrase to describe our analysis: “estimating how many 

new dwelling units the vacant residential land in the UGB is likely to accommodate.” That phrase is, however, 

cumbersome, and it is common in Oregon and elsewhere to refer to that type of analysis as “capacity analysis,” so we 

use that shorthand occasionally in this memorandum.  

137 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  71

 Future densities. The capacity analysis estimates the development potential of vacant 

residential land to accommodate new housing, based on the densities shown in Exhibit 

54. These densities assume that future development will occur at 80% of maximum 

densities allowed in the Millersburg Development Code by zone.   

 Capacity on commercial land. The estimate of capacity includes land in the commercial 

plan designation that allow residential uses, which includes the mixed‐use zone in 

Millersburg. We did not assume that all mixed use‐zoned land would develop as 

residential. Exhibit 56 shows the capacity assumed for residential uses on mixed use 

land as 15% of the overall buildable land in the mixed‐use zone.  

Exhibit 56. Estimate of Residential Capacity on Unconstrained Vacant and Partially Vacant Buildable 
Land, Millersburg UGB, 2021  
Source: Buildable Lands Inventory; Calculations by ECONorthwest. Note: DU is dwelling unit. 

 

Exhibit 57 shows additional dwelling unit capacity on residential lots that will not develop at 

the densities assumed in Exhibit 56. These lots are included in the total buildable land in 

Chapter 2 but are excluded from the overall total of unconstrained buildable acres in Exhibit 56. 

Instead, the capacity for dwelling units on these lots is accounted for in Exhibit 57 and is based 

on information about the individual lots from city staff.  

Exhibit 57. Additional Dwelling Unit Capacity on Residential Lots, Millersburg UGB, 2021  
Source: Buildable Lands Inventory; Calculations by ECONorthwest.  

 

   

Plan 
Designation/Zone

Total 
Unconstrained 
Buildable Acres

Density 
Assumption 

(DU/Gross Acre)

Capacity 
(Dwelling Units)

Residential 
Residential Low 186                       3.4                       639                     
Rural 159                       3.4                       546                     

Commercial
Mixed Use 7                           25.6                     188                     

Total 352                       3.9                    1,373                 

Zone
Additional Unit 

Capacity

Residential Low 28                         

138 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  72

Residential Land Sufficiency 

The next step in the analysis of the sufficiency of residential land within Millersburg is to 

compare the demand for housing by zone with the capacity of land by zone. Exhibit 58 shows 

that Millersburg has sufficient land to accommodate housing development in the all zones, with 

no surplus remaining in the mixed use zone. 

Exhibit 58. Comparison of Capacity of Existing Residential Land with Demand for New Dwelling Units 
and Land Surplus or Deficit, Millersburg UGB, 2021 to 2041 
Source: Buildable Lands Inventory; Calculations by ECONorthwest. Note: DU is dwelling unit. 

 

Conclusions 

The key findings of the Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis are that:  

 Millersburg’s population is forecast to grow. The Millersburg UGB is forecast to grow 

from 2,937 people in 2021 to 4,883 people in 2041, an increase of 1,946 people. This 

population growth will occur at an average annual growth rate of 2.6%. 

 Millersburg needs to plan for 719 new dwelling units. The growth of 1,946 people will 

result in demand for 719 new dwelling units over the 20‐year planning period, 

averaging 36 new dwelling units annually.  

Millersburg should plan for more single‐family attached and multifamily dwelling units 

in the future to meet the city’s housing needs. Historically, about 97% of Millersburg’s 

housing was single‐family detached. While 75% of new housing in Millersburg is 

forecast to be single‐family detached, the city will need to provide opportunities for 

development of new single‐family attached (15% of new housing) and multifamily units 

(10% of new housing). 

 The factors driving the shift in types of housing needed in Millersburg include 

changes in demographics and decreases in housing affordability. The aging of the 

Baby Boomers and the household formation of the Millennials will drive demand for 

renter‐ and owner‐occupied housing, such as single‐family detached housing, 

townhouses, duplexes, tri‐ and quad‐plexes, and apartments. Both groups may 

prefer housing in walkable neighborhoods, with access to services.  

Plan 
Designation/Zone

Capacity 
(Dwelling Units)

Demand 
(Dwelling Units)

Capacity less 
Demand 

(Dwelling Units)

Land 
Sufficiency

(Acres)

Residential 
Residential Low 667                       539                      128 37
Rural 546                       -                       546 159

Commercial
Mixed Use 188                       180                      8 0

139 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  73

 Millersburg’s existing deficit of housing affordable for low‐ and high‐income 

households indicates a need for a wider range of housing types, for renters and 

homeowners. About 20% of Millersburg’s households are cost burdened (paying 

more than 30% of their income on housing), including a cost burden rate of 33% for 

renter households. 

 Millersburg may have a need for additional housing affordable to extremely low and 

very‐low‐income households. About 13% of existing households have incomes of 

$32,250 (in 2020 dollars) or less. Assuming a similar share of households, 90 of the 719 

new households in the planning period will have incomes of $32,250 (in 2020 dollars) or 

less. These households often cannot afford market‐rate housing, and for newly built 

housing to be affordable, it will need to be income‐restricted government‐subsidized 

housing. These households will all need access to housing that is affordable to them, 

which will predominantly be existing housing or newly built smaller units, such as 

cottage housing, duplexes, or multifamily housing. 

 Millersburg has a need for additional housing affordable to lower and middle‐income 

households. Millersburg has a need for additional housing affordable to households 

with low and middle incomes. These needs include existing unmet housing needs and 

likely housing needs for new households over the 20‐year planning period.  

 About 24% of Millersburg’s new households will have low or middle incomes, with 

household incomes between $32,250 and $77,400. These households can currently 

afford between $1,290 to $1,940 in monthly housing costs. Households at the lower 

end of this income category may struggle to find affordable rental housing, 

especially with growing costs of rental housing across the Mid‐Willamette Valley. 

Some of the households in this group are likely part of the 20% of all households that 

are cost burdened. Development of rental housing affordable to households in this 

income category (especially those with middle incomes) can occur without 

government subsidy, but the City’s zoning code will need to provide opportunities 

for the development of a wider range of housing types in more places to 

accommodate more of this type of housing. 

 

Middle‐income households are likely not able to purchase owner‐occupied housing 

at Millersburg’s median home sales price of $414,000. Homeownership opportunities 

for households in this income category may be limited to existing housing, unless 

there are opportunities to build new housing at lower costs. 

 

   

140 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  74

Appendix A: Residential Buildable Land 
Inventory 

The general structure of the buildable land (supply) analysis is based on the DLCD HB 2709 

workbook “Planning for Residential Growth – A Workbook for Oregon’s Urban Areas,” which 

specifically addresses residential lands. The buildable lands inventory uses methods and 

definitions that are consistent with Goal 10/OAR 660‐008. This appendix describes the 

methodology that ECONorthwest used for this report, based on 2021 data. The results of the 

BLI are discussed in Chapter 2. 

Overview of the Methodology 

Following are the statutes and administrative rules that provide guidance on residential BLIs:  

OAR 660‐008‐0005(2):  

“Buildable Land” means residentially designated land within the urban growth boundary, including 

both vacant and developed land likely to be redeveloped, that is suitable, available and necessary for 

residential uses. Publicly owned land is generally not considered available for residential uses. Land 

is generally considered “suitable and available” unless it:  

(a) Is severely constrained by natural hazards as determined under Statewide Planning Goal 7;  

(b) Is subject to natural resource protection measures determined under Statewide Planning 

Goals 5, 6, 15, 16, 17 or 18; 

(c) Has slopes of 25 percent or greater; 

(d) Is within the 100‐year flood plain; or  

(e) Cannot be provided with public facilities. 

Inventory Steps 

The BLI consists of several steps: 

1. Generating UGB “land base” 

2. Classifying land by development status 

3. Identify constraints  

4. Verify inventory results 

141 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  75

5. Tabulate and map results 

Step 1: Generate “land base”  

Per Goal 10 this involves selecting all of the tax lots in the Millersburg UGB in zones that allow 

residential uses. Plan designations and zones included in the residential inventory include: 

 Residential plan designation 

 Residential low 

 Residential mixed density 

 Rural 

 Commercial plan designation 

 Mixed use 

Exhibit 59 shows the residential plan designations included in the BLI.  

142 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  76

Exhibit 59. Residential Land Base by Zone, Millersburg UGB, 2021  

 

143 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  77

Step 2: Classify lands  

In this step, ECONorthwest classified each tax lot with a plan designation that allows 

residential uses into one of five mutually exclusive categories based on development status: 

 Developed land 

 Vacant land 

 Partially vacant land 

 Unbuildable land 

 Public land 

ECONorthwest initially identified buildable land and classified development status using a 

rule‐based methodology consistent with the DLCD Residential Lands Workbook and applicable 

administrative rules. The rules are described below in Exhibit 60. 

Exhibit 60. Rules for Development Status Classification  
Development 

Status Definition Statutory Authority 

Vacant Land 

Tax lots that have no structures or have 
buildings with very little improvement value. 
For the purpose of this inventory, lands with 
improvement values of less $10,000 were 
considered vacant (not including lands that 
are identified as having mobile homes). 

OAR 660-008-0006(2) (2) “Buildable 
Land” means residentially designated 
land within the urban growth boundary, 
including both vacant and developed land 
likely to be redeveloped, that is suitable, 
available and necessary for residential 
uses. Publicly owned land is generally not 
considered available for residential uses. 

Partially Vacant 
Land 

Partially vacant tax lots can use safe harbor 
established in State statute: The infill 
potential of developed residential lots or 
parcels of one-half acre or more may be 
determined by subtracting one-quarter acre 
(10,890 square feet) for the existing 
dwelling and assuming that the remainder is 
buildable land. 

OAR 660-024-0050 (2)(a) 

Unbuildable 
Land 

Vacant tax lots less than 3,000 square feet 
in size were considered unbuildable. No statutory definition 

Public Land 

Lands in public ownership are considered 
unavailable for residential development. 
This includes lands in Federal, State, 
County, or City ownership. Public lands were 
identified using the Assessor’s property tax 
exemption codes. 

OAR 660-008-0005(2) - Publicly owned 
land is generally not considered available 
for residential uses. 

144 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  78

Development 
Status Definition Statutory Authority 

Developed Land 

Land that is developed at densities 
consistent with zoning and improvements 
that make it unlikely to redevelop during the 
analysis period. Lands not classified as 
vacant, partially vacant, unbuildable or 
public are considered developed. 

No statutory definition 

Step 3: Identify constraints 

Consistent with OAR 660‐008‐0005(2) guidance on residential buildable lands inventories, ECO 

deducted certain lands with development constraints from the BLI. We used the following 

constraints, as listed in Exhibit 61.  

Exhibit 61. Constraints to be included in BLI 
Constraint Statutory Authority Threshold 

Floodways OAR 660-008-0005(2) Lands within FEMA FIRM identified 
floodway 

100 Year Floodplain OAR 660-008-0005(2) Lands within FEMA FIRM 100-year 
floodplain 

Steep Slopes OAR 660-008-0005(2) Slopes greater than 25% 

BPA Right of Way OAR 660-008-0005(2) Lands within the BPA Right of Way 

Drainageways and Fishbearing 
Streams  

OAR 660-008-0005(2) 
Lands within 15-foot setback of 
drainageways and 50-foot setback 
of fishbearing streams 

Willamette River Greenway OAR 660-008-0005(2) Lands within the Willamette River 
Greenway 

 

We treated these areas as prohibitive constraints (unbuildable) as shown in Exhibit 62. All 

constraints were merged into a single constraint file, which was then used to identify the area of 

each tax lot that is constrained. These areas were deducted from lands that are identified as 

vacant or partially vacant. 

Lack of access to water, sewer, power, road, or other key infrastructure cannot be considered a 

prohibitive constraint unless it is an extreme condition. This is because tax lots that are currently 

unserviced could potentially become serviced over the 20‐year planning period. 

145 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  79

Exhibit 62. Residential development constraints, Millersburg UGB, 2021 

 

146 of 147



ECONorthwest DRAFT - Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis  80

Step 4: Verification 

ECO used a multi‐step verification process. The first verification step involved a “rapid visual 

assessment” of land classifications using GIS and recent aerial photos. The rapid visual 

assessment involves reviewing classifications overlaid on recent aerial photographs to verify 

uses on the ground. ECO reviewed all tax lots included in the inventory using the rapid visual 

assessment methodology. The second round of verification involved City staff verifying the 

rapid visual assessment output. ECO amended the BLI based on City staff review and a 

discussion of the City’s comments. 

Step 5: Tabulation and mapping 

The results are presented in tabular and map format. We included a comprehensive plan map, 

the land base by classification, vacant and partially vacant lands by plan designation, and 

vacant and partially vacant lands by plan designation with constraints showing. 

147 of 147


	Top
	Item 1)	Approval of December 14, 2021 City Council Meeting Minutes
	D.1_Draft_City Council Regular Monthly Meeting Minutes_12-14-2021

	Item 2)	Acceptance of City Accounts Payable Report
	Council Accounts Payable Report

	Item 3)	Linn County Sheriff's Monthly Report
	E.1a_Millersburg City Report Decmber 2021
	E.1b_Millersburg Contract Rpt_01-2022

	Item 4)	Albany Fire Department Quarterly Report
	E.2_Albany Fire Department Council Report

	Item 5)	Fire Station Project Report
	H.1a_Council Report_010622_Fire Station Project Update
	H.1b_three week look-ahead schedule

	Item 6)	Project Updates
	H.2a_Project Updates Memo to Council for 1-11-22
	H.2b_Snow Removal Map 12.21
	H.2c_Snow removal map -Additional Priority Streets in heavy snow conditions

	Item 7)	Health Insurance Plan Rates - Information Only
	K.1_Council Action 01112021 Health Insurance

	Item 8)	Water and Sewer Rate Increases - Previously Adopted - Information Only
	K.2a_Staff Report_Water and Sewer Rate Increases
	K.2b_2021-05 Adopting Planned Water Rate Increases
	K.2c_2021-06 Adopting Planned Sewer Rate Increases

	Item 9)	Housing Needs Analysis and Buildable Lands Inventory - Information Only
	K.3a Staff Report HNA-BLA update
	K.3b Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis_DRAFT

	Bottom
	City Council Regular Meeting Packet_1-11-2022_HNA.pdf
	Top
	Item 1)	Approval of December 14, 2021 City Council Meeting Minutes
	D.1_Draft_City Council Regular Monthly Meeting Minutes_12-14-2021

	Item 2)	Acceptance of City Accounts Payable Report
	Council Accounts Payable Report

	Item 3)	Linn County Sheriff's Monthly Report
	E.1a_Millersburg City Report Decmber 2021
	E.1b_Millersburg Contract Rpt_01-2022

	Item 4)	Albany Fire Department Quarterly Report
	E.2_Albany Fire Department Council Report

	Item 5)	Fire Station Project Report
	H.1a_Council Report_010622_Fire Station Project Update
	H.1b_three week look-ahead schedule

	Item 6)	Project Updates
	H.2a_Project Updates Memo to Council for 1-11-22
	H.2b_Snow Removal Map 12.21
	H.2c_Snow removal map -Additional Priority Streets in heavy snow conditions

	Item 7)	Health Insurance Plan Rates - Information Only
	K.1_Council Action 01112021 Health Insurance

	Item 8)	Water and Sewer Rate Increases - Previously Adopted - Information Only
	K.2a_Staff Report_Water and Sewer Rate Increases
	K.2b_2021-05 Adopting Planned Water Rate Increases
	K.2c_2021-06 Adopting Planned Sewer Rate Increases

	Item 9)	Housing Needs Analysis and Buildable Lands Inventory - Information Only
	K.3a Staff Report HNA-BLA update
	K.3b Millersburg Housing Capacity Analysis_DRAFT

	Bottom




